
2005
reference document



PAGE 1

Chairman’s

message

Dear Shareholder,

2005 was an important milestone in Naturex’s
development plan. Following our acquisition of US company, Pure World, in
July, we virtually doubled in size and, today, rank amongst the world’s foremost
leaders on the plant extract and natural ingredients market. 

This acquisition is of course perfectly in line with our external growth strategy
which we financed with a capital increase at the start of the year. Specialized in
our core business of plant extraction and formulation, Pure World’s products
not only target two of our main market segments, namely the food processing
and nutraceutical industries, but also the cosmetics sector. Moreover, Naturex
and Pure World boast strong synergies as much in terms of their customers as
their products. Legally speaking, Pure World has integrated our US subsidiary
and we are delighted to see that its operational integration within the Group is
some six months ahead of the initial schedule of between eighteen months and
two years. 

2005 also saw our turnover grow substantially (+44.1%) despite Pure World
only being consolidated over six months. The Group’s organic growth (+10.4%
at constant USD rates) has once again proven our ability to combine a dynamic
acquisitions strategy with sustained internal growth. Growth in Naturex’s net
income for the year also proved very strong at 30.2% and, pro-forma (if Pure
World had been consolidated over the full twelve months), the Group posted a
turnover of € 63.40M for an operating margin of 12.7% at € 8.08M.

The years to come will see Naturex pursue its development in Asia following the
opening of our sales office in Singapore in April so as to take full advantage of
the region’s significant growth potential for the Group. 

Bolstered by these assets and the strong market trends underpinning our
different markets, Naturex is targeting an organic growth rate of between 10%
and 15% at constant USD rates in 2006 – the first year in which Pure World will
be consolidated over the full twelve months. I am confident that we have all the
assets we need for the Group to perform very well in 2006 and to reinforce our
position as a major global player and hope that you share my conviction.

Finally, at the Annual General Meeting to be held on June 14, 2006, your Board
of Directors will propose the payment of a dividend of € 0.10 per share for the
second year running.

Jacques Dikansky
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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1.1 Presentation of Naturex 

1.1.1 BACKGROUND

1980
Jacques Dikansky, aged 20 years old, founds a company that produces fruit and
vegetable concentrated juices and crushed powders intended for the flavoring,
pharmaceutical and food processing industries. A profitable enterprise, “Arômes
de Bretagne” is sold in 1987 to the Guyomarc’h Group.

Jacques Dikansky goes on to found another company, specialized in supplying
mixes (mixtures of ready-to-use ingredients) for ready-made meals and, in
partnership with Ducros, proceeds with the take-over of a condiment business.

1992
Jacques Dikansky founds Naturex with Thierry Lambert, a former BNP
executive who joined him in 1989.

Naturex’s corporate purpose is the production of plant extracts with flavoring,
coloring or preserving properties, using only 100% natural ingredients and
intended for the flavoring, food processing and nutraceutical industries.

The company sets up its industrial facilities between 1992 and 1993,
comprising one factory in Avignon and one in Kenitra, Morocco. The Moroccan
unit which offers the two-fold advantage of low labor costs and sound supply
sources for rosemary, apricot stones, etc. undergoes major relocation/extension
from 1998 to 1999, during which it is moved to a new site close to Casablanca.

2000
Naturex boasts an average growth rate of 30% since 1997.

2001
Naturex proceeds with 2 capital increases:

■ the first in the amount of € 3,203,482 in April 2001 intended to strengthen
the company’s working capital in light of its rapid growth, 

■ the second in the amount of € 8,658,072 in November 2001 in order to
finance a highly accretive acquisition in the United States. The acquisition of the
business assets of Californian company, Brucia Plant Extracts LLC, is completed
on 03/01/2002, affording the Group a presence on both US coasts and
reinforcing its positioning on the nutraceuticals market.

2004
Naturex acquires the rosemary extracts business of US firm, Hauser, at the end
of March, thus consolidating its ranking as a global producer of rosemary
extracts.

2005
Naturex carries out a capital increase in the amount of €10,662,030.50 in
January 2005 in order to finance new acquisitions.

Naturex is ranked 21st out of the 500 fastest-growing companies in Europe in
2005 and 3rd amongst French businesses alone in the survey carried out by
Business Week magazine and Brussels association “Europe’s 500 entrepreneurs
for growth” which represents over 2,000 business leaders.

Naturex acquires US company Pure World in July thereby doubling the Group’s
size and ranking it amongst the very top leaders worldwide.
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1.1.2 GROUP COMPANIES

On December 31, 2005, Naturex comprised three companies:

■ Naturex SA, the parent company, located in Avignon. The site regroups a high
performance industrial installation and the Group’s R&D and administrative
departments.

■ Maroc Extraction, located in Nouasser near Casablanca. This company 
produces the majority of the raw materials resold to Naturex for the flavoring
industry as well as extracts sold to the food processing and nutraceutical industries.

■ Naturex Inc., a subsidiary set up in the United States in 1997. This company
handles the direct marketing of Naturex products in the USA and Canada. 
In January 2002, it purchased the assets of the Brucia Plant Extracts company
and since operates a second site in Shingle Springs, California (production and
sale of plant extracts for nutraceuticals). In July 2005, Naturex Inc. completed
the successful takeover of Pure World whose head offices are located in South
Hackensack, New Jersey. Pure World Inc. devises, produces and markets 
plant extracts that are used by the cosmetic, food processing, flavoring,
pharmaceutical and nutraceutical industries in the production of consumer end
products. Pure World and Naturex Inc. merged during the second half of 2005.

■ Naturex also owns a 100% stake in the real estate company, SCI Les
Broquetons, which owns the premises in Avignon.

1.1.3 RECENT CHANGES

Naturex published its consolidated turnover for the first quarter of 2005 on
25/04/2006:

(000’s) With variation in USD At constant USD

2006 2005 Variation 2006 2005 Change

Q1 18,322 8,344 119.6% 16,870 8,344 102.2%

Total 18,322 8,344 119.6% 16,870 8,344 102.2%

USD exchange rate 1.193 1.250 1.250 1.250

There are no recent events linked to any disputes to report since 01/01/2006.

1.1.4 OUTLOOK

1.1.4.1 Results
Over the first quarter of 2006, turnover for Naturex amounted to € 18.3M, up
119.6% on the same period one year earlier. At constant USD rates, growth
stood at 102.2%. 

This performance reflects the Group’s wider scope (acquisition of Pure World)
and strong, sustained organic growth (+28.1%, or +18.0% at constant USD
rates).

For 2006 as a whole and at constant USD rates, Naturex is targeting an increase
of between 10% and 15% in organic growth combined with an increase in net
income of between 20% and 30%.

1.1.4.2 Development
More than six months ahead of its initial schedule for the integration of Pure
World, Naturex has ample scope to look new potential acquisitions.

Shingle Springs, California

South Hackensack, New Jersey
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1.2 Naturex’s business: 
an activity with a high value-added

Naturex produces 100% natural extracts for the flavoring, food processing,
nutraceutical and cosmetics industries.

The extracts are intermediary products that are sold exclusively to industrial
companies and which have the advantage of generating major market demand
given the constraints placed on industry by the sustained and fast-growing
demand amongst end consumers for 100% natural raw materials.

Naturex's strength lies in its ability to position itself on specific products which
constitute market niches. Since the company was founded ten years ago, growth
in turnover has been as follows:

Turnover Growth
in EUR millions

1995 4.5 +47%
1996 5.2 +14%
1997 5.4 +4%
1998 6.4 +19%
1999 9.5 +48%
2000 12.2 +29%
2001 16.1 +32%
2002 29.6 +84%
2003 28.1 -5%
2004 34.8 +28%
2005 50.3 +45%

1.2.1. TWO-FOLD EXPERTISE

Naturex boasts a two-fold expertise:

■ Extraction

Plant Extracts
Mastering the art of extraction means mastering the science of natural
chemistry. It means be able to identify and extract the main active flavors, colors
and health-related agents contained in plants.

■ Formulation

Raw extracts Formulated extracts
Formulation involves modifying the physical-chemical properties of extracts in
order to adapt them to the specific needs of users. For example, it might involve
creating water-soluble powders from raw, liposoluble liquid extracts.

This second area of expertise requires an in-depth knowledge of the
manufacturing processes used in client sectors.

1.2.2 APPROACH BY PRODUCT DESTINATION

Naturex produces natural ingredients for two primary uses:

■ food extracts (sold directly to the food processing and flavor industries),

■ nutraceutical extracts.

Since the acquisition of Pure World, extracts for the cosmetics industry also
constitute a small part of the Group’s activities for the time being.

Naturex also carries out custom extraction for specific clients.

Since the company was founded, Naturex has acquired and developed an
invaluable expertise in the fine chemistry of natural products and ingredients.

Today, the company offers an innovative, bespoke range of some 500 products,
originating from almost 150 natural extracts and each adapted to these two
primary uses.60.6%

Nutraceuticals
5.6%
Other

Food processing/
flavouring
32.6%

Cosmetics
1.2%

Breakdown of turnover 
by product at 31/12/05



A - Food products
A1 - Raw materials for the flavorings industry
■ The use of natural flavors instead of synthetic flavors really took off in the
1960s when their development proved exponential on the back of a new social
phenomenon of strong consumer demand from 100% natural ingredients.

■ The flavorings industry is extremely concentrated, with the 10 leading
flavorings firms (1) worldwide accounting for around 90% of the sector. More
often than not, said companies are large corporations and subsidiaries of major
groups.
(1) The core activities of Naturex’s flavorings customers essentially extend to the make-up of flavorings, in other words,
the production of food flavors from raw materials that they produce themselves or buy in. They are therefore positioned
downstream of producers of flavoring raw materials and upstream of formulated flavors intended for the food processing
industry.hj

Geographical breakdown of the 100% natural flavor ingredient market
These are approximate figures on the breakdown of a global market that is
worth around US$ 500M (essential oils and natural molecules).

It should be noted, however, and this applies to all Naturex markets, that
evaluations are difficult to make given the lack of accurate sector statistics due
to the heterogeneity of additives and the fact that Naturex is positioned on
“niche” markets.

A2 - Ingredients intended for the food processing industry 
Business and market
Mastering the production of natural extracts for the flavorings industry
facilitated Naturex’s entry into and development of its second core activity: the
production of 100% natural ingredients for the food processing industry. This
no longer means pure extracts sold for their physical-chemical properties, but
extracts that have been formulated to suit the requirements of industrial
processes.

These extracts have the same qualities as the underlying plant but have obvious
additional advantages for all users: deseasonalization, reduced volumes,
consistent properties, solubility, concentration, etc.

They are extracts used for their flavoring, coloring or preserving properties.

Naturex has conceived three major lines which include almost 150 different
products:

■ Nat’Arom: extracts of mustard, thyme, garlic, coriander, fenugreek, etc.

■ Nat’Color: extracts of paprika, turmeric, spinach, etc.

■ Nat’Stabil: extracts of rosemary marketed under the trademark Oxy’less® and
preventing oxidation phenomena, etc.

Note that Naturex’s extracts business does not compete with the activities of
flavoring specialists who supply composite flavors whose production requires
specific expertise.

Naturex’s know-how extends primarily to formulation, i.e. the transformation of
the natural properties of an extract to suit specific industry requirements.

Mastering applications is the other essential element component of the company’s
know-how. Naturex has a laboratory to carry out tests on finished food products.

Estimates for the flavorings market apply equally to flavoring extracts whose
market is valued at US$ 150M.

The more recent boom in natural coloring agents dates from the 70/80s and came
in response to the marketing considerations of the food processing industry.
Despite higher costs and heavier industrial processes, natural coloring agents now
rank highly on the ingredients market.

In value terms, they represent between 40 and 50% (i.e., approximately 10% to
15% in volume terms) of food coloring agents at about US$ 300M. Development
potential remains high at 10% per year thanks to:

■ the growth in the underlying market of food products,

■ the ongoing gradual replacement of synthetic coloring agents with natural
ingredients.

Rest of world
5%

European
Union 
35%

50%
USA/Canada

 Japan
10%

Geographical breakdown 
of the 100% natural flavor
ingredient market
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The use of natural preservatives by the food processing industry is still in its
elementary stages. Today, this relatively dynamic market is estimated to be
worth US$ 50M. The key product is extract of rosemary which has a strong
growth potential. In volume terms, natural extracts currently represent around
5% of all preservatives used.

Customer base
Naturex’s customer base is divided between major corporations (who require
the development of specific formulations), medium-sized companies whose
volumes are sufficient to warrant direct relations with ingredient producers,
intermediary mix manufacturers, and, lastly, dealers who supply regional small
and medium-sized businesses.

Potentially, any food processing company is liable to use Naturex extracts. The
scope for the Group’s product ranges is extremely wide.

Below are just a few of the most common examples:

■ Aperitifs :
- Potato chips and crackers (extracts of rosemary, natural coloring agents, spice
and herb extracts, etc.).
- Tarama (extracts of rosemary, coloring agents, etc.).

■ Starters:
- Smoked salmon (extracts of rosemary, etc.).
- Sauces, mayonnaise (extracts of mustard, herbs, etc.).
- Fish pâtés, delicatessen meats (coloring agents, extracts of herbs and spices,
extracts of rosemary, etc.).

■ Main courses:
- Plats cuisinés (extraits d’herbes et d’épices, colorants, extraits de romarin,...).
- Breaded or fried products (extracts of rosemary, etc.).

■ Desserts :
- Ice-creams (coloring agents).
- Cakes (coloring agents, extracts of rosemary).
- Pastry-based products (extracts of rosemary).
- Biscuits (extracts of rosemary).
- Dairy products, creams (coloring agents).

Many of these products may also contain fruit flavorings which include raw
materials sold by Naturex to the flavorings industry.

Techniques used
Using oleoresins (extracted by organic solvent) and essential oils (produced by
hydro-distillation), the Ingredients Department employs homogenization,
drying by atomization and granulation by fluid bed techniques, etc.

Importance of Naturex’s presence in Morocco
The sole producer of food extracts of this type established in Morocco, Naturex
benefits from privileged access to a large variety of raw materials, thus affording
it a major competitive edge.

B - Raw materials for the nutraceutical industry
Business and market
Despite its buoyant development across most industrialized countries, the
nutraceutical industry is first and foremost an American market, with South-
East Asia (Japan, Korea) coming in at second place. 

Europe, which has yet to define a common legal framework therein, is still an
emerging market.

In the strict sense of the word and according to the Dietary Supplement Health
and Education Act (1994 - USA), nutraceuticals means food supplements
consumed in the form of tablets, capsules, powders and gels.

Based on this definition and according to our estimates, the potential market for
raw materials (crushed plants and extracts) represents around US$ 500M.



There are also wider definitions which include what can be referred to as
functional foods: “enriched” food products which have preventive, alternative
medical properties. Were these definitions to apply, our estimate of the market
for the corresponding raw materials could be doubled, even tripled.

This market shows the following characteristics:

■ A relatively young market whose growth has accelerated since the middle of
the 1990s despite a certain slowdown in 1999-2000.

■ Sales are made through specialized networks (specialized shops and mail-
order companies or sales over the Internet).

■ A client base that includes numerous large and medium-sized companies (500
to 3,000 employees), mainly in distribution and/or the preparation of
tablets/capsules etc., but fewer companies specialized in raw materials which are
often imported.

■ A particularly active market on the West Coast of the USA in particular and
Japan.

■ Major emphasis on the quality of the products marketed, particularly with
regard to their active ingredients. A criterion that is expressed through
increasingly exacting analytical requirements.

It should be emphasized that this quest for quality comes entirely at the
initiative of a profession governed by an extremely liberal legal framework in
which no approvals or authorizations (FDA or other) are required. In fact, only
retailers of finished products need to take care as regards any claims linked to a
product (generally-speaking, a product cannot claim to have a therapeutic effect
– claims may simply emphasize any observations as to the presumed preventive
effect of a product or its beneficial qualities as part of a treatment).

This market is a modern, American take on herbalism on the one hand, and
traditional dietetics on the other hand.

Paradoxically, the market for supplements of plant origin is much older in
Europe and quite comparable in size to its US counterpart.

That said, it would seem futile to attempt to draw comparisons between the
two:

■ in Europe, the majority of consumption takes the form of plants (crushed,
etc.) and not extracts,

■ European distribution channels are different: this type of product is almost
always sold in pharmacies and is deemed to be a “patent medicine”.

Increasingly exacting consumer demand and improved specialist distribution
channels like those seen in the US are boosting the “nutraceutical” share of this
market.

By catch-up effect, we expect to see strong growth on the European market over
the next four to five years, even if the lack of European legislation is weighing
down progress.

Products
The emergence of the most successful products on this market is a result of the
combination of several factors, namely:

■ the existence of active ingredients with recognized virtues and that are easily
dosed;

■ the availability of raw materials;

■ the traditional use of raw materials in herbalism;

■ the fashion effect.

St. John's Wort, Mary's Thistle, Gingko Bilboa, Ginseng, Garlic and Artichoke
rank amongst the oldest and the best known products on the market: 

Other emerging and promising products include Olive Leaf, Rosemary, Valerian
and Curcumin.

Breakdown of market

South-East Asia
25%

60%
America

Europe (1)  

15%

(1) o/w a large share is
attributable to Germany
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Naturex offers over 300 botanical extracts whose active ingredients are
recognized for their beneficial health effects.

However, in order to adapt its products to the technical and commercial needs
of its clients, many of the extracts in the Nat’Activ range are available in a wide
selection of galenical medicines.

Naturex assets
Naturex’s nutraceutical clients benefit from a number of advantages, including:
■ privileged access to a broad gamut of raw materials;
■ extensive analytical know-how that is in line with market expectations;
■ a direct presence on the American market through its subsidiary and on the
Asian market through its local office.

Furthermore, the product cycle is far shorter than in the food processing industry: 5
to 6 new products per year would appear to be a realistic marketing objective.

Lastly, the American market is very open to Mediterranean products which are
not available domestically and, thanks to “enriched” functional foods, the ties
between the two markets are multiplying, thereby reinforcing the need for
expertise in both areas.

C - Extracts for cosmetics
The cosmetics market is a new market for Naturex following the acquisition of
Pure World which boasts several years’ experience in the field. 

While the Group is still on a learning curve within this market that has a
seemingly strong development potential, it is currently targeting the sector’s
leading players to which it is able to offer a broad gamut of products. 

D - Custom extraction
Business and market
Naturex’s custom extraction business offers its clients bespoke tools and know-
how to suit their individual extraction needs. Combining high performance
equipment with scientific expertise, the business line collaborates with
companies in various sectors (biotechnologies, baby-food, etc.).

Moreover, this activity is based on longstanding partnerships with what are
generally relatively lengthy adaptation phases (definition of processes).

For custom extraction, the notion of a market does not really apply even if the
sector offers genuine potential, particularly as regards extraction by organic
solvent.

1.2.3 MASTERING PROCUREMENT

Naturex’s Bio Extraction Department uses an increasing number of raw
materials, including:

■ apricot kernels and other green materials cultivated for products for the
flavoring industry;
■ aromatic plants from the Mediterranean Basin (rosemary, thyme, bay leaves,
etc.) for products intended for the Ingredients Department, 
■ various plants for extracts for the nutraceutical industry.

Moreover, purchases of mustard seed, apricot kernels and, to a lesser degree,
Asian or African raw materials, complete these procurements.
The Formulation Department uses the extracts produced by the Bio Extraction
Department as well as extracts from Asia which are most often purchased from
local producers.
Supplies are procured from an international network of suppliers and brokers
that Naturex has built up over the years and which, today, constitutes a major
business asset for the Group.
They are followed-up internally by three purchasing managers based at each
production site (Avignon, Casablanca and New Jersey) who work closely with
R&D for everything relating to products under development.
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The Group’s facilities in Morocco are also a strategic source in terms of the
procurement of:
■ large quantities (i.e. that exceed Naturex’s own requirements) of Mediterranean
aromatic plants;
■ apricot stones or kernels;
■ a wide range of materials used in nutraceuticals.

Lastly, as well as strengthening Naturex’s presence in the United States, the
Group’s acquisition of Pure World also provides it with a major new source for
the procurement of raw materials from the American continent.

Strategic locations
Avignon, Casablanca and New Jersey: 3 vegetal
extraction sites in 3 different continents.

1.2.4 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

At Naturex, R&D is structured in line with the company’s three core development
axes: the production of ingredients for the food processing industry, the production
of raw materials for the nutraceutical industry and the production of extracts for the
cosmetics industry.

■ R&D for bio-extraction currently focuses on two areas: 
- extraction techniques,
- methods of analysis.

■ R&D for formulation also focuses on two core areas:
- the analysis of technical resources which confer specific properties on certain
ingredients,
- application tests to assess and prove the efficiency of a given product.

The R&D Department works in constant collaboration with the R&D
departments of Naturex’s different clients (particularly within the food
processing sector), thus bringing company initiatives to concrete fruition and
speeding up their commercialization.

R&D employs a team of 20 engineers and technicians across France, the United
States and Morocco. At present, it represents an annual investment of around 
€ 1.2M for the Group - an investment that, in absolute value terms, will be
maintained in the years to come.

Note that Naturex does not carry out any basic research itself, but rather focuses
on working on the core input of other research teams.

Generally speaking, no official authorization is necessary prior to the
commercialization of new products in a range which stems from 100% natural,
normal consumer products. This affords the natural ingredients sector a
substantial competitive advantage over that of synthetic ingredients and
partially explains its dynamism.

Avignon
Extraction
Formulation 
Sales

Casablanca
Extraction

West coast
Formulation 

Sales

East coast
Sales



1.2.5 HIGH-PERFORMANCE INDUSTRIAL FACILTIES

A - Facilities
The techniques used by Naturex require substantial investment to develop the
necessary technological resources.

The equipment is relatively "technical". Bio extraction requires large scale
equipment (given the fact that large quantities of raw materials are handled,
with the actual proportion extracted varying from less than 1/1000 to a minor
percentage), while the Ingredients Department requires smaller scale resources.
In both instances, equipment is subject to the highest standards of quality.

Equipment is standard for a company that specializes in vegetal extraction
and, amongst other things, includes: :

In Morocco
■ 10 solvent extractors and 3 evaporators;

■ 6 multi-purpose reactors (hydro-distillation);

■ 2 concentration columns per distillation;

■ 1 breaking and pressing line;

■ general services;

■ 1 laboratory equipped with CPG and HPLC;

In France
■ 1 solvent extraction workshop (filtering base);

■ 1 distillation workshop with 5 multi-purpose reactors (hydro-distillation);

■ 1 atomization workshop with tower and fluid bed;

■ mixing and homogenization equipment;

■ fully-equipped laboratories (CPG, HPLC, Rancimat, etc.).

These items of equipment are divided between the two production sites
belonging to Naturex Group:

■ the Avignon unit which comprises 2,400 m2 of buildings over an area of 1,900 m2,
built on a 1.12 hectare site. The 2,000 m2 extension of this site is currently underway
and is scheduled for completion at the end of 2006;

■ the Casablanca unit in Morocco which comprises a building of 2,200 m2, built on
a 1.1 hectare site.

These modern, high performance production facilities process 10,000 tonnes of
plants each year.

Following the investments made in 2000 and 2001, the facilities have enabled
production to handle an annual increase in turnover of more than 25% and over
40% in 2005.

Properly maintained, the equipment has an extremely long life and requires very
few stoppages.

The owner of its industrial facilities, Naturex is now also the owner of the
premises in Avignon (building which belongs to the real estate company SCI Les
Broquetons which is owned by Naturex and its founders) and the buildings
onsite in Morocco which are subject to a long-term lease.

In the United States
Naturex’s facility in New Jersey boasts large capacity plant extraction
equipment, R&D laboratories and an extensive range of state-of-the-art
analytical tools (HPLC, CPG, HPTLC, ICP, PPSN, RMN, separative
chromatography, etc.).
The Group’s Californian site also has equipment for the extraction and
formulation of raw materials used by the nutraceuticals sector, along with
sterilizers and granulation equipment.
The laboratory, for its part, is equipped with HPLC and thin-layer
chromatography equipment as well as infra-red and UV spectrophotometers.
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B - Overview of processes
Naturex uses the 4 industrial extraction processes outlined below.

Distillation of essential oils
An average 100kg of plants is required to obtain 1kg of essential oils. 

The distillation of essential oils includes the following processes:
(1) crushing;
(2) enzymic reaction;
(3) steam scavenging;
(4) essential oils.

Bio-enzymatic production
An average of 6 tonnes of plants is required to obtain 1kg of natural molecules.

Bio-enzymatic production includes the following processes:
(1) plants;
(2)crushing;
(3) enzymic reaction;
(4) distillation;
(5) purification;
(6) aromatic molecules.

Extraction by solvent 
An average of 20kg of plants is required to obtain 1kg of extract:

Extraction by solvent includes the following processes:
(1) plants;
(2) crushing;
(3) washing with solvent (absorption of active ingredients);
(4) vacuum evaporation (elimination of the solvent);
(5) oleoresin (food processing or extract (nutraceuticals).

The need to validate the industrial processes and the manufacturing batches
using sophisticated analytical resources (CGP, HPLC, etc.) adds to the
complexities of this sector of activity from an industrial point of view.

Formulation includes the following processes:
(1) homogenization;
(2) drying;
(3) atomization;
(4) mixing;
(5) granulation, etc.

1.2.6 HUMAN RESOURCES

At December 31, 2005, Naturex had a payroll of 349, including 123 employees
in France (20 of which are employed in R&D), 82 employees at its Nouasser
site in Morocco (70% of which work in production) and 144 employees in the
United States.

In 2005, the Group’s payroll represented 19.3% of turnover as against 16.5% in
2004. This change is notably due to the reinforcement of the company’s teams
during the first half of the year in order to best prepare for the acquisition
completed in July 2005.

The Moroccan unit is a major asset for Naturex given the country’s relatively
low labor costs (blue collar workers can be employed for approximately 1/8th of
the cost of employing them in France).

In addition, the acquisition of Pure World prompted the merger of the Group’s
sales teams in the United States. The operation went without a hitch and will
enable the Group to reap the first fruits of the merger six months’ ahead of the
initial schedule.

Today, the rapid restructuring of part of the teams in the United States and the
quality of the teams set up over the years afford Naturex a major competitive
edge.
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1.2.7 DYNAMIC SALES ORGANISATION

Sales of raw materials to the aromatics industry concern a limited number of
customers or prospects who are almost always approached directly by the
company's sales teams.

Sales of ingredients to industry are a different matter entirely. They target a very
broad customer base in that it potentially spans all food sector companies. Sales
drives generally take the form of a technical pitch to client R&D laboratories.

The sales structures currently in place within Naturex are as follows:

■ in France, the USA, Germany and the United Kingdom, Naturex’s sales teams
directly canvasses clients;

■ in the other countries, Naturex calls upon the services of local salespeople
whose actions are reinforced by frequent client visits by Naturex’s technical-
sales staff.

In both instances and whenever necessary, the managers of Naturex’s various
R&D laboratories are on hand to provide their assistance and support.

Headed up by Jacques Dikansky, Naturex’s global sales strategy draws upon the
following teams:

■ six technical-sales staff for Europe coordinated by a sales manager; 

■ two technical-sales staff for Asia, based in Singapore;

■ eleven technical-sales staff for the United States and Canada coordinated by
the General Manager of the US subsidiary;  

■ sales administration staff in France and America.

These internal resources which are complemented by some thirty outside agents
constitute a major sales force. They are nevertheless limited which means that
prospective sales drives tend to be focused on large food processing companies,
manufacturers of mixes for the food industry and the world’s leading
nutraceutical and cosmetic companies.

To promote its products and secure new contacts, Naturex takes part in a dozen
or so trade fairs each year, including:

In Europe
■ the FICEE (Food Ingredient Central and Eastern Europe) – Eastern Europe’s trade
fair on food ingredients;

■ the FIE (Food Ingredient Europe) - a European trade fair on food ingredients;

■ the HIE (Health Ingredients Europe) - a European trade fair on nutraceutical
products;

■ the Vitafood trade fair.

In the United States
■ the IFT (Ingredients Food Technologists) - an American trade fair on food
ingredients,

■ the Natural Products Expo trade fairs - two American trade fairs on nutraceutical
products (one on the West Coast and one on the East Coast),

■ various regional events organized by the IFT (e.g. IFT suppliers nights).

1.2.8 BREAKDOWN OF THE CUSTOMER BASE AND COMPETITION

Naturex operates on the international markets and realizes over 90% of its sales
overseas.

Naturex customers
Flavorings industry:
Seven out of eight of the world’s leading players are Naturex customers,
underlining the quality and competitiveness of the company’s products.

1.9%
Rest of
world

9.5%
France

Asia/
Oceania
3.2%

European
Union
20.7%

64.7%
USA - Canada

Breakdown of turnover 
by geographical zone



Food processing industry:
Customers are generally major North American or European groups as well as
large or medium-sized companies specializing in mixes (spices and seasonings).

Nutraceuticals:
Large and medium-sized companies, most of which are located in California.

Cosmetics:
Naturex’s cosmetics customer base includes all of the world’s leading market
players.

Custom extraction:
Very high reputation clients..

Breakdown of Naturex’s client base:
In 2005, Naturex’s top ten clients accounted for 20.85% of turnover versus a
total 22.75% in 2004. 

Average payment times stand at approximately 81 net days.

Naturex has built up a loyal customer base.

Competition
Naturex has built up a portfolio of niche products that each have their specific
characteristics and specific, dedicated teams.

As such, the company’s competition consists of various types of company:

■ single product producers (SMEs or cooperatives) that focus on a given raw
material to which they have privileged access (producers of marigold oleoresin
in Ecuador for example);

■ producers with a different core activity but who operate or maintain a
secondary activity as a producer of raw materials (e.g., a flavorings specialist
that produces natural molecules for its own consumption and that sells any
excess production);

■ companies (SMEs) which, like Naturex, position themselves on ranges that
target specific product/customer combinations.

Naturex competitor names include: Kalsec, Chris Hansen, Warner and
Jenkinson, Cognis and Martin Bauer.

Furthermore, Naturex does not work with longstanding, traditional products,
but markets specialty products whose initial production stages require specific
expertise or whose composition is customized to suit specific requirements.
Accordingly, there are not many competitors per product, particularly as each
player seeks to differentiate their product: use of another source of raw material,
development of new properties of an extract (e.g., in its formulation), etc.

Today, Naturex’s competition is made up of:

■ a large number of what are often established family-owned companies with a
turnover of € 3 to 5-7M. 

These small and medium-sized companies generally have a light structure, are
very profitable and see their development hampered by limited resources.

■ independent small and medium-sized companies or specialized branches of
major groups with turnovers of € 15 to 50M. Few in number, these companies
have a high level of capital thanks to established customer bases that generate a
strong level of profitability or by recourse to various sources of capital (financial
markets, powerful groups and merchant banks). It is this category that includes
the most dynamic market players which are at the origin of the sector’s
increasing concentration.

Through its ambitions, its culture, its technical and human structure and its
listing on segment C of Eurolist, Naturex belongs to this last category of
companies.
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Dear Shareholders,

■ In accordance with the law and the provisions of our articles of association,
we have called this Annual General Meeting, primarily to ask you to approve the
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2005.

■ The notices convening this AGM have been issued in accordance with legal
requirements.

■ The documents required under existing regulations have been sent to you or
made available to you and all holders of securities providing access to the share
capital (share warrants) within the prescribed times. 

■ These documents have also been sent to the Works Council in accordance
with the provisions of the French Labor Code (Article L 432-4, paragraph 5).

This report is essentially intended to present the situation of our company and
that of our Group, in accordance with legal requirements.

■ As regards the principles and methods used to draw up Naturex’s annual
financial statements as at December 31, 2005, we hereby confirm that they
comply in full with all existing French regulations resulting from the decrees of
the French Accounting Regulations Committee (CRC). 

Regulations CRC 2004-06 of November 23, 2004 relating to the definition,
recording and valuation of assets, and CRC 2002-10 of February 12, 2002
relating to the amortization and depreciation of assets apply as from this
financial year. The application of these two new regulations has no impact on
the results or shareholders equity’ in Naturex SA’s opening balance sheet.

Said changes in regulation imply a change in accounting methods and the
company has not applied any of the waivers provided for by the texts.

Naturex SA made no changes to its accounting methods during financial 
year 2005.

■ As regards the consolidated financial statements: accounting standards.

Given the imminent transition to IFRS as adopted by the European Union, the
consolidated statements for financial year 2005 have been drawn up for the first
time in accordance with the IFRS accounting and valuation principles adopted
throughout the European Union as well as with the regulations governing the
presentation and content of intermediary accounts as defined by the General
Regulations of the AMF (French Securities Regulator).
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1. Group activity and results
■ Naturex Group consists of the following companies:

Naturex SA Parent company
Pôle Technologique Agroparc

Montfavet - 84140 Avignon (France)
Siret No.: 384 093 563 000 29

APE code: 246 E

Maroc extraction Subsidiary
Technopôle Nouasser
Aéroport Mohamed V

B.P. 42
20240 Nouasser (Morocco)

Naturex Incorporated Subsidiary
375 Huyler Street

07 606 South Hackensack (N.J.)

SCI Les Broquetons Subsidiary
Site d’Agroparc BP 1218

84 911 Avignon (France)

They are owned directly or indirectly according to the following percentages:

Company % control % stake

Naturex Parent company Parent company
Maroc extraction 89.29% 89.29%
Naturex Inc. 100% 100%
SCI Les Broquetons 100% 100%

■ Change in consolidation scope:

The consolidation scope did not change over financial year 2005, except for the
percentage stake in the subsidiary Maroc Extraction. This increased from
85.72% to 89.29% as a result of Naturex SA subscribing to a capital increase in
March 2005.

■ The following company is not consolidated:

Gaïa Herbs Sub-subsidiary
108 Island Ford Road
28 712 Brevard (N.C)

Naturex Incorporated owns 35% of this company’s shares but holds no voting
rights and exercises no significant influence over the company as defined under
IAS 28. The shareholding recorded in the consolidated financial statements at
December 31, 2005 amounts to € 1,279,986.

Table for the non-consolidated shareholding:

In euro Gaïa herbs
USA

Securities account value (gross) 1,279,986
Securities account value (net) 1,279,986
Related receivables 0
Share of capital 35%
Capital 1,333,051
Reserves, issue premium and retained earnings 1,467,272
Income 414,566
Turnover 9,637,638
Dividends received 0
Non-reimbursed loans and advances 0
Guarantees given 0
Note: US dollar at the closing rate and average rate for turnover.

The data provided for Gaïa Herbs is as at November 30, 2005, since information
as at December 31, 2005 is not yet available.
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Ad hoc entity
No company in the consolidation scope is a shareholder or affiliate of an ad hoc
entity.

Liquidation
Sub-subsidiary P.A.I, inactive for several years now, officially declared the
cessation of its activities during financial year 2005.

Related parties
The total gross remuneration of Naturex’s management bodies stood at
€ 577,000, including fringe benefits and is paid by Naturex Inc. (€ 250,000)
and Naturex (€ 327,000).

The Group’s consolidated financial statements show a turnover of € 50,146,885
compared with a figure of € 34,804,970 at December 31, 2004, namely an
increase of more than € 15,000,000 in absolute value terms (+44.07%), for an
income of € 4,006,164 compared with € 2,880,880 one year earlier. 

We draw your attention to the following key points highlighted by this year’s
statements:

■ In 2005, Naturex maintained a high level of profitability whilst also
embarking on a major acquisition and retaining a strong organic growth trend
(+10.4%).

■ The Group’s operating margin for the financial year is 13.0%. At the same
time, net income rose by 30.2% to € 4.01M and by more than 50% on a pro-
forma basis, in line with targets.

■ Group net income stands at 7.9% of turnover for a gearing at December 31,
2005 of 96.03% following the substantial debt taken on this year to finance the
acquisition of Pure World. Cash flow stands at € 9.83M.

We request that you approve the consolidated financial statements:

In euro Financial year Financial year
Dec. 31, 2004 Dec. 31, 2005

Turnover (excl. tax) 50,146,885 34,804,970
Operating income 6,543,145 4,682,004
Financial income (863,010) (386,708)
Income 4,006,164 2,880,880
Group net income 3,950,707 2,756,040
Net debt 35,782,958 12,405,203
Cash flow 9,831,724 6,259,741

COMMENTS ON THE OVERALL ACTIVITY OF THE GROUP
DURING THE PAST FINANCIAL YEAR 

The situation of all of the companies included in Naturex’s consolidation scope
is as follows:

Highlights
Yearly turnover at December 31, 2005 amounted to € 50.1M, up 44%. At
constant USD rates, growth stands at 45.7%.

Income after tax amounts to € 4,006,000, up 39% on the previous year.

At beginning of January 2005, Naturex realized a € 10.66M capital increase
(issue expenses of € 0.44M) by issuing 414,865 shares with warrants with a par
value of € 25.70. Two warrants entitle holders to subscribe to a new share in the
company at an issue price of € 34 between now and January 27, 2008. At
December 31, 2005, 2,743 warrants had been converted.

Naturex also carried out, through the absorption of the intercompany loan
account, a capital increase in respect of Naturex Inc. (wholly-owned subsidiary)
in the amount of € 5,451,602 and a capital increase in respect of Maroc
Extraction (now a 89.29%-owned subsidiary) in the amount of € 1,973,562.

Following Naturex S.A.’s takeover bid for Pure World, Inc. at a price of US$ 4.30
per share payable in cash, Naturex acquired 100% of Pure World Inc. shares
in July 2005.
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The total cost of this acquisition was US$ 41.5M, including US$ 34.8M used to
purchase shares and US$ 2.1M used to purchase all options on Pure World’s
capital.

Turnover for Pure World Inc. amounted to US$ 31.3M for financial year 2005.

The acquisition was financed in cash (€ 8.5M) and via two loans:

■ US$ 22.5M (€ 18.6M) repayable over 7 years,

■ € 7.5M repayable according to new share subscriptions following the
conversion of warrants issued in connection with the January 2005 capital
increase.

Pure World Inc. and its subsidiaries have merged with Naturex Inc. under the
commercial name of Naturex Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Naturex.

Pure World Inc., whose head office is in South Hackensack, New Jersey, devised
and produced plant extracts for use in the cosmetic, food processing, flavoring,
pharmaceutical and nutraceutical industries.

Events after the closure of the accounts
No major event has occurred since the closure of the accounts.

Research and development activity
In accordance with the provisions of Article 233-26 of the French Commercial
Code, Naturex and the companies that it controls generated € 1.2M in R&D in
2005, € 0.7M of which was generated by the Avignon site.

R&D is structured in line with the Group’s two major development axes: the
production of ingredients for food-processing industries and the production of
raw materials for the nutraceutical industry.

Bio extraction R&D is based around two areas of research: extraction techniques
and analytical methods.

Formulation R&D is centered on two areas: the technical resources that provide
certain ingredients with specific properties and the application tests that help
measure and prove the efficacy of a product.

The R&D department works in constant collaboration with client R&D
departments (notably within the food-processing sector) thus bringing
company initiatives to concrete fixation and speeding up their
commercialization.

Description of off-balance sheet commitments associated with ordinary
operations
In euro Dec. 31, 2005 Dec. 31, 2004

Naturex commercial pledge 100,000 100,000
Maroc Extraction Up to the Up to the 
commercial pledge 9th mark 9th mark
Outstanding amounts 153,688 159,372
Guarantees to the Moroccan customs service 340,674 311,829

Description of complex commitments 
The figures above include all major off-balance sheet commitments in
accordance with applicable accounting standards.

Group activity by area of activity
Activities by area of activity are as follows:

Turnover in euro Dec. 31, 2005 %

Raw materials for the flavorings industry 4,937,871 9.85%
Cosmetic and food ingredients 13,861,889 27.64%
Custom extraction 2,115,298 4.22%
Nutraceuticals 29,095,379 58.02%
Miscellaneous 136,449 0.27%

Total 50,146,886 100.00%
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Naturex’s activity
Naturex, whose corporate financial statements we submit for your approval
(1st resolution), generated turnover of € 28,295,043 vs. € 25,747,483 in 2004
(namely an increase of more than € 2,500,000 or nearly 10%), for an income of
€ 644,232 vs. € 795,745 one year earlier. 

We ask that you approve these parent company financial statements. The
company’s five-year financial summary is presented in the notes.

COMMENTS ON THE ACTIVITY OF NATUREX 
DURING THE PAST FINANCIAL YEAR 

Highlights
At beginning of January 2005, Naturex embarked on a € 10.66M capital
increase (issue expenses of € 0.44M) by issuing 414,865 shares with warrants
with a par value of € 25.70. Two warrants entitle holders to subscribe to a new
share in the company at an issue price of € 34. At December 31, 2005, 2,743
warrants had been converted.

The capital increase was a huge success and enabled Naturex to launch a bid on
US company Pure World Inc. The operation resulted in the acquisition of 100%
of Pure World’s capital in July for a total of US$ 37.1M including acquisition
expenses.

Pure World Inc., whose head office is in South Hackensack, New Jersey, absorbed
Naturex Inc. at the end of November 2005, becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Naturex SA. Pure World Inc. devises, produces and markets plant extracts that
are used by the cosmetic, food-processing, flavorings, pharmaceutical and
nutraceutical industries to manufacture consumer end products.

Pure World Inc. generated turnover of US$ 31.3M in financial year 2005,
including US$ 14.6M since July 1, 2005, the date of its consolidation in
Naturex’s accounts.

Naturex also carried out, through the absorption of the intercompany loan
account, a capital increase in respect of Naturex Inc. (wholly-owned subsidiary
before the merger) in the amount of € 5,451,602 and a capital increase in
respect of Maroc Extraction (now a 89.29%-owned subsidiary) in the amount of
€ 1,973,562.

Finally, Messrs. Jacques Dikansky and Thierry Lambert have sold the 7,900
shares with warrants resulting from the merger between Naturex and S2P to the
Banque de Vizille. These warrants, entitling the holder to subscribe to 79,000
Naturex shares, were exercised in December 2005.

Outlook and development prospects
For 2006 as a whole, Naturex confidently expects to maintain its buoyant
organic growth trend of between 10% and 15% for an increase in net income of
between 20% and 30% at constant USD rates.

Major events that have occurred since the closure of the accounts
We have no significant event to report.

Research and development activities
The corresponding information features in the section devoted to Group activities.

Results for the company and its subsidiaries
This information is also covered in the notes to the parent company financial
statements.

Progress made and difficulties encountered
Naturex has adopted a “quality” approach that focuses on continuous
improvement in order to secure maximum client satisfaction. This three-pronged
strategy focuses on:
■ improving competitiveness,
■ maintaining growth momentum,
■ ensuring the reliability of existing systems.

The strategy is implemented in accordance with legal and regulatory requirements,
and without compromising the company’s reactivity and efficiency.
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Acquisition of controlling stakes
Finally, during the financial year ended December 31, 2005, Naturex acquired
a 100% stake in Pure World Inc.

The acquisition of this controlling stake followed Naturex SA’s bid on Pure
World Inc. at a price of US$ 4.30 per share payable in cash, which resulted in
Naturex acquiring 100% of the shares of Pure World Inc. in July 2005. The total
cost of the acquisition was US$ 41.5M, US$ 34.8M of which was used to
purchase shares and US$ 2.1M of which was used to purchase all options on
Pure World’s capital.

The acquisition was financed in cash (€ 8.5M) and by two loans:

■ US$ 22.5M (€ 18.6M) repayable over 7 years,

■ € 7.5M repayable through the increase in shareholders’ equity resulting from
new share subscriptions following the conversion of warrants issued in
connection with the January 2005 capital increase.

Pure World Inc., whose head office is in South Hackensack, New Jersey, devised
and produced plant extracts for use in the cosmetic, food-processing, flavorings,
pharmaceutical and nutraceutical industries.

Pure World Inc. and its subsidiaries have merged with Naturex Inc. under the
commercial name of Naturex Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Naturex.

Pure World Inc’s. activities represented turnover of US$ 31.3M in financial year
2005.

The pro-forma statements drawn up on the basis of Pure World’s integration on
January 1, 2005 show full-year turnover of € 63.4M (71.1% of which is
generated in North America) for a net income after tax of € 4.6M.

Social considerations
This information is covered in the notes to this report.

Environmental impact 
Among the different Naturex sites, three are production sites whose plant
extraction activities result in major energy consumption (linked to evaporation
operations) and pollutant emissions. The operation of these different sites is
subject to authorization. They are also regularly subject to emissions tests and
are equipped with emission reduction systems.

Energy consumption for plant extraction activities is outlined below. 

Site Avignon Nouasser Shingle 
Morocco Springs - USA

Main energy source Gas Fuel oil Electricity
2005 gas 
consumption (KW) 6,869,192 0 0
2005 fuel oil
consumption (Kg) 0 1,457,490 0
2005 electricity
consumption (KW) 2,660,115 2,948,891 170,640

NB: The regular declarations made by the Nouasser and Avignon entities to the
relevant national authorities provide detailed data on emissions.

RESULTS

Appropriation of income (4th resolution)
■ The proposed appropriation of our company’s income complies with the law
and with our articles of association.

■ We propose allocating the income of € 644,232 for the financial year as
follows: 
- Legal reserves: € 12,261.90 so that they equate to 10% of the capital.
- Shareholders: € 266,112.60 in the form of dividends.
- Ordinary reserves: the balance, i.e. € 365,857.50. 
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■ As a result, the dividend attached to each share will be € 0.10, will be
distributed to individuals domiciled for tax purposes in France and is subject to
the 40% tax allowance provided for in Article 158-3, paragraph 2 of the French
General Tax Code.

Dividend payment
■ The dividend will be payable on July 4, 2006.
■ In the event that, at the time of dividend payment, the company holds some of
its own shares, the sums corresponding to the unpaid dividends (L.225-210,
paragraph 4) resulting from these shares, will be allocated to retained earnings.

Previous dividend distributions (Article 243 of the French General Tax Code) 
In accordance with the provisions of Article 243 bis of the French General Tax
Code, dividend per share distributions for the past three financial years were as
follows:

Financial year Dividend Tax Actual 
distribution credit income

2002 None
2003 None

Financial year Income eligible for Income not eligible
tax allowance for tax allowance

Dividend Other distributed Actual income

2004 € 257,938.30 

Non tax-deductible expenses
We request that you approve the expenses and charges applicable under Articles
39-4 of the French General Tax Code, namely the sum of € 3,503 and the
corresponding tax.

2. Risk factors

LEGAL RISKS

Naturex’s legal risks, excluding all standard legal risks that apply to all
companies, are essentially linked to patent problems.

The purpose of the research carried out by Naturex is to acquire manufacturing
expertise. As is the practice in the flavorings industry, Naturex does not file
patent applications and keeps its “recipes” confidential.

However, some competitors are filing or have filed certain patents and are likely
to file proceedings against Naturex in this respect. Such risks are significant 
in the USA and patent challenge and defense costs can be huge and result
in substantial fees.

There is no risk of dependency on a particular patent.

VOLATILITY IN PRICES OF PRODUCTS AND COMPETITION

Naturex focuses on innovative products whose relatively narrow markets can
lead to temporary imbalances, thus prompting volatility in prices for these
products.

That said, this risk of imbalance is mitigated for several reasons:
■ the small number of entrants on this market due to the technological
constraints and the fact that the sector is a capital-rich one;
■ the lasting growth trends of the various niches;
■ the compartmentalization of the various product niches which cannot
substitute each other in companies with diversified portfolios.

The highest risk is linked to products in the flavorings industry which is highly
concentrated. It is quite low for most innovative food ingredients and can be
qualified as average for the other food ingredients and raw materials for the
nutraceutical industry.
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RISK OF DEPENDENCE ON EXECUTIVES

Naturex’s executive management team comprises four individuals who are
complementary to each other but not interchangeable.

In fact, the Group’s strong development to date comes essentially on the back
the back of a “combination” of the talents of this team. Should one of these
individuals notably Mr. Dikansky be indisposed for a long period of time, the
company’s development would probably be disrupted. However, given that the
teams have been strengthened, its long-term stability would not be
compromised.

POLITICAL RISK

Naturex carries out a large proportion of its production in Morocco. This
geographic location combines several advantages:

■ sound compromise between low labor costs and good quality work;

■ existence of plants that are extremely well suited to Naturex’s requirements.
For example, Moroccan rosemary has high anti-oxidant properties enabling
quality rosemary extracts at very competitive prices.

A deterioration in Morocco’s political situation, leading to a substantial
slowdown or even the stoppage of the Moroccan factory, would have a serious
impact on Naturex’s industrial competitiveness.

However, the Avignon factory is capable of producing the majority of the
ingredients manufactured in Morocco in the event of a crisis situation.
Furthermore, Naturex has taken out an insurance policy with COFACE
covering part of its investments in Morocco.

CLIENT RISK

The company’s youth and the high concentration of companies in the flavorings
sector led to an initially low client spread.

The development of Naturex’s activity and strong upturn in its sales have since
allowed for a better spread amongst its client base. At December 31, 2005, the
Group’s top 10 clients accounted for 20.85% of turnover, the top 20 for 33.32%
and the top 30 for 42.57%.

Moreover, past financial years show that the proportion of turnover attributable
to each client varies enormously, with a decrease in some compensated by an
increase in others.

Finally and above all, the financial quality of Naturex’s major clients in the food
and flavorings industries is first class.

To monitor its client risk in the more recent and less well-known nutraceutical
business, Naturex Inc. uses the services of a specialist company. This sector
presents the highest risks for the Group.

MANUFACTURING RISK

A decline in technical expertise in production seems improbable, given:

■ the traditional equipment used to manufacture products of this type,

■ that basic manufacturing know-how resides in the composition of recipes
whose implementation does not pose any major problems.

With regard to the risk of operating incidents given the installations used and
the use of more or less inflammable or explosive solvents, Naturex’s exposure is
similar to that of any company working with materials of this type. In 1995,
it suffered an explosion causing little damage and with no impact on its
profitability. Existing safety measures are extensive and include explosive-proof
workshops, safety clothing, recourse to specialist consultants, etc.

The production installation consists of a number of specialized lines per
product that are independent of each other.

Lastly, Naturex is insured against operating losses.
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QUALITY AND BRAND IMAGE RISK

Naturex products are essentially intended for food or para-pharmaceutical
consumption. There is therefore a risk that these products may be toxic, notably
as a result of a defect during development. However, this risk is mitigated in the
case of food since, in the final product, the proportion of the ingredients
developed by Naturex is extremely low.

Furthermore, given the strong degree of trust that exists amongst partners in
this sector, any serious problem concerning the quality of a delivery would
necessarily impact on the company’s brand image. In addition, to avoid this risk,
each manufacturing batch undergoes a test analysis at Naturex and then at the
client’s site before being used. It should be emphasized that as this profession is
highly compartmentalized, an incident is unlikely to be repeated.

REGULATORY RISK

Regulations are very slow to adapt to developments in industry.

In certain cases, inclusion on a positive list, which is a long and costly process,
is necessary.

Nevertheless, regulations are not particularly restrictive when it comes to
extracts of traditional plants, even if these extracts are used more for their
secondary properties (coloring, anti-oxidant or other) than for their flavoring
qualities.

When an ingredient used for its secondary properties takes on certain
proportions, the necessary toxicological studies should be carried out in
conjunction with the supervisory authorities, and an application for inclusion
on the positive list filed.

This is notably the case for rosemary, for which an application has been
submitted.

The company feels that, today, these practices, which have been deep-rooted for
decades now, are unlikely to be called into question.

The changes in regulations will tend more towards tighter restrictions
governing the introduction of new synthetics and labeling, all of which are
favorable to the growth of the natural ingredients sector.

With regard to the nutraceuticals sector, regulations are not particularly
restrictive in both Europe and the USA, subject to companies complying with
the relevant obligations and restrictions regarding claims and intended to avoid
any risk of products being confused with pharmaceutical products.

Here again, the company feels that these practices are unlikely to be called into
question. On the other hand, tighter controls on labeling and the listed content
of active ingredients are probable.  These should prove rather favorable for
companies such as Naturex which have the required technical and scientific
potential.

Accordingly, Naturex is currently undergoing two certification processes: ISO
for Avignon and GMP for Brucia. 

RISK OF DEPENDENCE ON SUPPLIERS

Naturex’s procurement requirements are low in relation to the size of the raw
materials markets. The company is therefore not dependent on its suppliers.

Nevertheless, to ensure the optimal management of its procurements, Naturex’s
relations with its suppliers are generally planned and are sometimes granted by
contract (e.g. mustard grains).

LIQUIDITY RISK

Naturex Group’s consolidated debt by key category is outlined in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements under note 12 “Financial debt”.
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INTEREST RATE RISK

Sensitivity to variations in rates concerns two items: short-term cash loans in
the amount of € 3,893,000 and a dollar borrowing representing outstandings
of € 19,073,000 at December 31, 2005, contracted within the framework of the
Pure World acquisition.

Assuming a 1% variation in short-term rates and an average remaining duration
of 1 year between now and end-2006, sensitivity stands at around € 230,000.

The impact of rate variations on the company’s financial expenses is around 5.2%.

In order to manage this risk, Naturex works closely with the brokerage
specialists of its financial partners.

Naturex’s variable rate debt amounts to € 19,073,000, with the balance
representing the fixed rate part. The average rate is 4.3%.

EXCHANGE RATE RISK

The Group’s dollar risk is partly offset since the company pays for a large part
of its supplies in US$, uses part of its short/medium-term financing in this
currency and part of its costs (US subsidiary) are in US$. Furthermore, costs in
Morocco are in dirham whose rate follows dollar variations to about 30%.
Although sensitivity to dollar variations is limited in the short-term, the
structure of Naturex’s turnover is such that a strong dollar is preferable for the
Group.

Furthermore, a proportion of sales in the UK tends to create a limited risk in
GBP on around 2% of turnover.

Naturex Group carries out currency transactions and therefore incurs an
exchange rate risk, nearly all on the dollar and dirham, due to variations in the
rates of these currencies.

The respective position of the Group’s assets and liabilities denominated in
euros is summarized in the table below:

In euro France Morocco USA Total

Total assets 20,150,786  7,846,196  59,939,127  87,936,108 
Total liabilities 74,487,077  3,795,594  9,653,437  87,936,108

Net position in USD: 50,285,690

Net position in MD: 4,050,602

The sensitivity of Naturex’s consolidated income and shareholders’ equity to a 1%
variation in the dollar is summarized in the following tables:

In US$ Closing rate Rate Difference
1.263 after variation in euro

1.2756

Assets (WCR) 2,722,109.28 2,307,458.91 2,284,607.03 (22,851.88)
Liabilities (WCR) 973,010.65 824,794.99 816,626.65 (8,168.34)
Impact on income (14,683.54)

In US$ Translation Translation Difference
difference difference in euro
after var. before var.

Assets (WCR) 34,838,574.30 (3,250,019.35) (2,957,552.43) (292,466.92)
Liabilities (WCR)
Impact on
shareholders’
equity (292,466.92)

At constant USD rates, Naturex’s sales would have been € 50.63M. The
variation in the dollar therefore has a negligible positive impact of around 
€ 0.08M, or 0.15%.
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TECHNOLOGICAL RISKS

The company does not operate any SEVESO-classified facilities.

OTHER RISKS

To the company’s knowledge, there is no other litigation or exceptional event
likely to have a significant impact on the Group’s assets and financial situation.

INSURANCE AND RISK COVER

The table below gives as a guide (based on indexation, excess clauses and
policies), the maximum coverage in euros by type of risk of the various
insurance policies subscribed to by the Group:

The total cost of the Group’s insurance cover amounted to € 722,000 for
financial year 2005.

Type of risk Total in euro

Industrial multi-risk (all sites) 33,315,500
Operating loss 12,300,000
Environmental damage 4,575,000
Transported goods (per claim) 300,000
Coface (political risk in Morocco) 1,846,488

3. Capital and Executive Officers

COMPANY SHAREHOLDERS

■ The following individuals held, directly or indirectly, more than 5%, 10%,
15%, 20%, 25%, 33.33%, 50%, 66.66% or 95% of Naturex’s share capital or
AGM voting rights at December 31, 2005:

Shareholders In capital In voting
rights

Holding more than 5%
FMR Corp and Fidelity International Limited 5.02% 4.22%
Holding more than 10%
Odyssée Venture 13.60% 11.44%
Holding more than 25%
Jacques Dikansky 18.52% 31.16%

This list changed as follows during the past financial year:

Shareholders In capital In capital In voting In voting
2005 2004 rights rights

2005 2004

Holding more than 5%
FMR Corp and Fidelity
International Limited 5.02% 0% 4.22% 0%
Holding more than 10%
Odyssée Venture 13.60% 13.30% 11.44% 11.12%
Holding more than 25%
Jacques Dikansky 18.52% 15.80% 31.16% 26.45%

TREASURY STOCK

The following controlled companies have a share in the company’s capital:

■ Naturex owns 0.10% of the capital.

NOTICE OF HOLDING OR ISOLATION
OF CROSS-SHAREHOLDING

During the financial year for which we request that you approve the financial
statements, our company held no cross-shareholdings.
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ADJUSTMENT OF THE CONVERSION BASES 
FOR SECURITIES PROVIDING ACCESS TO THE CAPITAL,
PURCHASE AND SUBSCRIPTION OPTIONS AND FREE SHARES

None.

NUMBER OF OWN SHARES PURCHASED AND SOLD BY THE
COMPANY DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR

Under a share buyback program, the company bought and sold its own shares
between the opening and closing dates of the last financial year, as follows:

■ Number of shares purchased: 0.
Average purchase price: n/a.

■ Number of shares sold: 850.
Average selling price: € 24.61 

■ Number of registered shares at financial year-end: 2,579.
Estimated value at the purchase price: € 44,802.31 

Reasons for the purchases % of capital

Boosting the share price n/a
Employee shareholdings n/a
Securities affording access to shares n/a
Acquisitions n/a
Cancellation n/a

DELEGATION OF POWERS IN THE CASE
OF CAPITAL INCREASES (7TH AND 8TH RESOLUTIONS)

Delegation of powers with a view to increasing the share capital through 
a cash contribution or the incorporation of reserves, profits or premiums.
These delegations of powers terminate in August 2006 and 2007. As a result,
we request, as we do every year at the AGM, that they be renewed and that you
grant the Board of Directors:

■ powers to increase the capital through the issue of ordinary shares or
securities providing access to the capital, reserved for shareholders and/or
through the incorporation of reserves, profits or premiums,

■ powers to increase the capital through the issue of ordinary shares or
securities providing access to the capital, with no pre-emptive rights.

These powers are intended to give the Board of Directors full scope to proceed,
on the dates that it chooses, and within the 26-month legal limit, with the issue
of ordinary shares and/or any securities providing immediate or ultimate access
to ordinary shares.

The nominal value for capital increases liable to be carried out may not exceed
€ 4,000,000. This amount is to include the total nominal value of the additional
ordinary shares to be issued to preserve, as required by law, the rights of holders
of securities providing access to the capital.

This delegation of powers gives the Board of Directors full scope to increase,
in accordance with the conditions and limits set by legal and regulatory
provisions, the number of shares stipulated in the initial issue. This decision is
subject to a special resolution.  

In accordance with the law, the securities to be issued may provide access to
ordinary shares of any company that owns, directly or indirectly, more than half
of the share capital of our company or any company in which our company
owns, directly or indirectly, more than half of the share capital.

These issues may be carried out with or without pre-emptive rights for
shareholders. 

Where pre-emptive rights are maintained, should the amount of subscriptions
not match the full issue, the Board of Directors shall have recourse 
to the options available under the law and, notably, may offer all or part
of the non-subscribed shares to the public.
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In the event of a public offering without pre-emptive rights, the Board
of Directors may grant existing shareholders priority subscription rights.

Where this is the case, the amount accruing to or expected to accrue to the
company for each of the ordinary shares issued, after taking into account the
subscription price of warrants in the event of a share with warrants issue, will be
determined in accordance with legal and regulatory provisions and will
therefore be at least equal to the minimum required by the provisions of Article
155-5 of the amended Decree of March 23, 1967 at the time when the Board of
Directors exercises its powers therein.

In the event of a share issue to remunerate shares tendered under a share
exchange offer, the Board of Directors shall, within the limits set out above, have
the necessary powers needed to establish the list of shares tendered in the
exchange offer, the issue conditions, parity and, where applicable, the amount
of the cash adjustment payable and issue procedures. 

Delegation of powers to increase the share capital with a view to
remunerating contributions in kind (10th resolution)
We request that you grant your Board of Directors the powers to increase the
share capital by up to 10% to remunerate any potential contributions in kind
made to the company and comprising capital securities or securities providing
access to the capital.

This authorization would be granted for a period of 26 months.

The total nominal value of the ordinary shares liable to be issued under this
delegation of powers may not exceed 10% of the share capital. This ceiling is
independent of all of the other ceilings stipulated for the other powers in terms
of capital increases.

Delegation of powers with a view to a capital increase reserved for
members of a company savings plan (11th resolution)
We also request that you approve a draft for the delegation of powers to your
Board of Directors allowing it to carry out a capital increase reserved for
members of a company savings plan and implemented under the provisions of
Article L 443-5 of the French Labor Code. This through the issue of ordinary
cash shares and, where applicable, through the free allocation of ordinary shares
or other securities providing access to the capital.

It is specified that, in accordance with the provisions of Article L.443-5 of the
French Labor Code, the price of the shares to be issued may not be less than
20% (or 30% where the period of unavailability under the plan pursuant to
Article L. 443-6 of the French Labor Code is equal to or exceeds ten years) of
the average of the share’s first listed price during the 20 trading sessions
preceding the Board of Directors’ decision to proceed with the capital increase
and corresponding share issue, nor may it be higher than this average.

The maximum nominal value of the increase(s) that may be carried out using
the delegated powers is set at 3% of the amount of the share capital at the time
of the Board of Directors’ decision to carry out the increase.

For this purpose, we propose granting the Board of Directors full powers to use
the delegated powers for a period of 26 months.

■ The Board of Directors shall, within the limits set out above, have the powers
to set the terms of the issue(s), validate the necessary implementation of the
resulting capital increases, proceed with the corresponding amendment of the
articles of association, deduct, at its discretion, the cost of any capital increases
from the related premiums as well as all sums needed to increase the legal
reserves to one-tenth of the new capital after each increase, and, more generally,
complete all of the necessary formalities therein.
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Authorization to allocate share subscription and/or purchase options
(13th resolution)
The delegated powers given to the Board of Directors to allocate share
subscription and/or purchase options expires on August 27, 2008. We therefore
propose, as we do every year at the AGM, that they be renewed and that the
Board of Directors be delegated the powers, for a further period of 38 months,
to grant share subscription and/or purchase options to employees, individual
employees or certain categories of employee and/or to executive officers of the
company, companies or economic interest groupings linked to the Group under
the terms of Article L. 225-180 of the French Commercial Code.

The total number of options that may be granted by the Board of Directors
under this delegation of powers may not confer the right to subscribe to or
purchase a number of shares representing more than 3% of the existing share
capital on the day of the first allocation, in accordance with the legal limits and
notably those specified in Articles L.225-182 of the French Commercial Code
and 174-17 of the Decree of March 23, 1967. 

The share subscription and/or purchase price for beneficiaries will be set on the
day the options are granted by the Board of Directors and may not be less than
the minimum price established by the applicable existing regulations. 

The term of the options set by the Board may not exceed six (6) years as from
their allocation date.

Therefore, the Board shall have full powers, within the limits set out above, to
set the other terms and conditions for the allocation and exercise of options
and, notably, to set the conditions under which the options will be granted;
establish the list or categories of beneficiaries as provided for above; set the
exercise period(s) for the options granted; perform or have performed all acts
and formalities needed to make the potential capital increase(s) definitive;
modify the articles of association accordingly and, generally, complete all
necessary formalities therein.

Authorization to allocate free shares to salaried employees and/or certain
executive officers (14th resolution)
We propose that you delegate to the Board of Directors, for a period of 38
months, the option of proceeding with, pursuant to Article L 225-197-1 of the
French Commercial Code, the free allocation of new shares resulting from a
capital increase through the incorporation of reserves, premiums or profits, or
existing shares.

The potential beneficiaries of these allocations may be: 

■ salaried employees or certain categories of employee of both the company and
any companies linked directly or indirectly to it under the terms of Article
L 225-197-2 of the French Commercial Code,

■ executive officers who satisfy the conditions of Article L 225-197-1 of the
French Commercial Code.

The number of free shares that may be allocated by the Board of Directors under
this delegation of powers may not exceed 3% of the existing share capital on the
day of the first allocation.

The allocation of shares to beneficiaries will only be definitive at the end of an
“acquisition” period of at least two years as from the Board of Directors’ decision
to allocate such shares. Moreover, beneficiaries must keep the shares for a
minimum period of two years as from their definitive allocation.

Therefore, the Board shall have full powers, within the limits set out above,
to set the conditions and, where applicable, the share allocation criteria;
to determine the beneficiaries of free allocations from amongst those persons
fulfilling the conditions set out above as well as the number of shares each
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of them will receive; assess the impact on the beneficiaries’ rights of any
operations that modify the capital or are likely to impact on the value of shares
to be allocated and carried out during the acquisition and holding periods,
to ensure, where applicable, the existence of sufficient reserves and proceed for
each allocation with the transfer to a reserve account of the sums required for
the release of the new shares to be allocated; to decide on the capital increase(s)
through the incorporation of reserves, premiums or profits corresponding to the
issue of free new shares; to proceed with the acquisition of the shares needed
under the share buyback program and assign them to the allocation plan and,
generally, to complete all of the necessary formalities that the implementation
of this authorization implies.

Authorization to implement a share buyback program and to reduce the
capital by canceling treasury stock shares (5th and 12th resolution)
We propose that you grant the Board of Directors, for a period of 18 months, the
powers needed to proceed with the purchase, on one or more occasions and on
the dates that it decides, of company shares in the amount of a maximum of
10% of the number of shares making up the share capital, or based on the
current capital, 266,113 shares.

This authorization would replace the authorization given to the Board
of Directors by the AGM on June 27, 2005.

Purchases may be made with a view to:

■ Market making on the secondary market or ensuring the share’s liquidity
through an investment service provider via a liquidity contract that conforms
to the Compliance Charter of the AMF (French Securities Regulator).

■ Holding the shares purchased and subsequently using them in exchange or in
payment in the event of acquisitions, bearing in mind that shares acquired for
this purpose may not exceed 10% of the share capital.

■ Ensuring the correct coverage of stock option plans and other forms of share
allocation to the Group’s employees and/or executive officers in accordance with
legal requirements, notably employee profit-sharing agreements, company
savings plan or the free allocation of shares.

■ Ensuring the correct coverage of securities entitling the holder to the
allocation of shares in the company under stock market regulations.

■ Proceeding with the eventual cancellation of acquired shares, subject to
authorization being granted by this AGM in its 12th resolution (extraordinary). 

We propose setting the maximum purchase price at € 70 per share and
therefore the maximum amount for the operation at € 18,627,882.

In light of the purpose of this cancellation, we request that you authorize the
Board of Directors, for a period of 24 months, to cancel, at its sole discretion, on
one or more occasions, and up to a maximum of 10% of the capital or 266,113
shares, those shares that the company holds or may hold following the
buybacks carried out under its share buyback program and to reduce the share
capital accordingly in line with existing legal and regulatory requirements.

The Board of Directors would therefore be assigned the necessary powers to
complete the various formalities therein.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

General Management 
We would also remind you that during the meeting of June 27, 2002, the Board decided to entrust the General Management to
the Chairman of the Board of Directors. In view of its size, Naturex does not comply with the Bouton report. The Board of
Directors includes the company’s main operational executives.

List of executive officer positions and mandates (225-102-1 para. 3) 
First name and surname Mandate within Date of Mandate Other positions Mandates and/or
or company name the company appointment expiry date in the company positions in other
of executive officers companies (group

and non-group)(1)(2)

Jacques Dikansky Chairman and Chief June 26, 2000 2006
Executive Officer

Thierry Lambert Deputy Chief June 26, 2000 2006 Head of Finance
Executive Officer and Administration

Stéphane Ducroux Director June 27, 2002 2008 Vice-President, USA
Jacqueline Dikansky Director June 27, 2005 2011
(1) Including all legal forms and both French and foreign.

(2) Appendix 1 of the European regulations governing the registration document. For non-subsidiary mandates, the information must cover the last five years.

The executive officers have not been convicted of fraud or nor have they received any public sanctions, and have not been the
subject of any bankruptcy proceedings or conflicts of interests during the last five years. 

Mrs. Jacqueline Dikansky is the mother of Mr. Jacques Dikansky.

Appointments, renewals and ratification of co-options (6th resolution)
The mandates of Board members Messrs. Jacques Dikansky and Thierry Lambert expire at the close of the present AGM.

We propose that their mandates be renewed for a term of six (6) years, expiring in 2012 at the end of the OGM called to approve
the statements for the previous financial year.

Attendance fees
Naturex pays no attendance fees to its directors.

Executive officer remuneration (225-102-1 para. 1 and 2)
Remuneration policy. 
Executive officers do not benefit from any variable remuneration component nor does the Group subscribe to any
complementary pension scheme on their behalf.

Remuneration for the financial year ended December 31, 2005 (in euro)

Executive officers In the company, in controlled companies and in the controlling company(1)

(irrespective of the length Fixed Variable One-off Attendance Benefits Total
of the mandate during remuneration fees in kind
the financial year)

Mr. Jacques Dikansky
- Paid in N 328,725 1,125 329,850
- Paid in N-1 233,580 1,125 234,705 
- Still to be paid in respect of N

Mr. Thierry Lambert
- Paid in N 146,524 1,525 148,049
- Paid in N-1 120,000 1,525 121,525
- Still to be paid in respect of N

Mr. Stéphane Ducroux
- Paid in N 108,000 108,000
- Paid in N-1 121,260 121,260
- Still to be paid in respect of N
(1) Amounts are expressed in gross values and converted at the average closing rate for remuneration paid in US$.

The fixed component of the remuneration indicated in the table above consists exclusively of the gross salaries paid in respect of
financial year 2005.  The benefits in kind correspond to the benefits calculated to offset the allocation of company cars.
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Remuneration and benefits paid in the form of an allocation of capital shares, debt securities or securities providing access
to the capital or providing entitlement to the allocation of debt securities in the company or controlled/controlling
companies.

Information on purchase or subscription options:

Date of AGM Plan No.1 Plan No.2 Plan No.3 Plan No.4 Plan No.5 Plan No.6 Plan No.7 Plan No.8 Total

Date of Board
meeting 02/01/01 04/07/01 21/12/01 21/12/01 30/01/03 06/01/04 06/01/04 06/05/05
Type of option Purchase Purchase Purchase Subscription Subscription Purchase Subscription Subscription

Number of options allocated to:
Jacques Dikansky 0 0 0 4,750 0 1,690 14,250 15,000 35,690
Thierry Lambert 0 0 0 250 0 89 750 2,500 3,589
Stéphane Ducroux 198 602 198 2,513 500 0 2,500 2,500 9,011
Start date for 
exercise of options 02/01/04 04/07/04 21/12/04 21/12/04 30/01/06 06/01/07 06/01/07 06/05/08
Expiry date 02/01/06 04/07/06 21/12/06 21/12/06 30/01/08 06/01/09 06/01/09 06/05/10
Purchase or
subscription price 11.61 11.34 11.86 11.86 12.83 12.72 12.72 27.54

Statutory Auditors
No Statutory Auditor mandates are due to expire at this AGM.

Employees (share of equity held at the close of the financial year (225-102)
At the close of the financial year, the employee shareholding as defined in Article 225-102 of the French Commercial Code
represented 0.10% of the share capital.

Reserved capital increase 
Since this AGM is asked to approve a proposed capital increase, it is also asked to approve a proposed capital increase reserved
for members of a company savings plan and carried out under the terms of Article L 443-5 of the French Labor Code.

Accordingly, we request that the Board of Directors be granted full powers for a period of 26 months to carry out said increase
to be capped at 10% of the capital on the dates and under the conditions it deems appropriate.

Appointment of employee shareholder(s) as director(s) (L. 225-23)
Since employee shareholding within the Group, such as it is defined in Article 225-102 of the French Commercial Code,
represents less than 3% of the company’s share capital, the AGM is not required to appoint one or more directors nominated
by employee shareholders. 

Nomination of director(s) by employees (L. 225-27)
None.

Related party transactions (3rd resolution)
We request that you approve the transactions governed by Article L 225-38 of the French Commercial Code, duly authorized
by the Board of Directors.

Your Statutory Auditors have drawn up a special report on said transactions which provides all of the necessary information
therein and shall be read to you in a few moments.

Conclusion
We request that you give full and definitive discharge to your Board of Directors from its duties during the financial year ended
December 31, 2005, as well as to the Statutory Auditors as regards their mandate, the full details of which are given in their
general report.

Finally, your Board requests that you approve the text of the present draft resolutions by majority vote.
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4. Notes to the Management Report 

NOTE 1 SOCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

Payroll
At December 31, 2005: Naturex’s payroll consisted of 129 employees, including:
8 fixed-term contracts;120 open-ended contracts;1 vocational training contract.

During 2005, Naturex recruited 56 new staff, including:
20 fixed-term contracts;
35 open-ended contracts;
1 vocational training contract.
3 employees were dismissed for serious professional misconduct in 2005.

Naturex had recourse to 94 part-time staff, 18 of which were still employed
by the company at December 31, 2005

Organization of working hours
The working week is set at 35 hours for those employees on a full-time contract.
3 employees work part-time:
1 employee who is on a 20-hour week;
1 employee who is on a 27.5-hour week;
1 employee who is on a 28-hour week.

Changes in fringe benefits compared with the previous year are presented in the
following table:

In euro 2004    2005 Change

URSSAF 897,961.00 1,287,708.00 389,747.00  
ASSEDIC 151,034.00  188,798.00  37,764.00 
Pensions
IREC 198,368.00  252,969.00  54,601.00  
CAPIMMEC 104,660.00  135,054.00  30,394.00  
Retirement
URRPIMMEC 26,334.00  35,824.00  9,490.00  

The following table shows the breakdown by gender of the company’s
workforce:

Men Women Total % Men % Women

Blue collar 56 0 56 100% 0%
Employees 10 16 26 38% 62%
Supervisors 10 5 15 67% 33%
Executives 26 6 32 81% 19%
Total 102 27 129 79% 21%

The following table lists the Group’s absenteeism rates and motives therein:

Approximate number of days:

Sick leave 1,782
Work-related accidents 272
Parental leave 150
Temporary suspension 21
Other (e.g. trade union training) 0

Remuneration, fringe benefits and changes, gender equality
Changes in remuneration over the last 4 years is as follows (in €):

2002 DAS* data 1,638,361.00 (1)

2003 DAS data 1,916,466.00
2004 DAS data 2,563,471.00
2005 DAS data 3,226,265.00
*DAS: French Welfare Office

(1) o/w € 220,369 for S2P

Change over 2003/2002 278,105.00 (1)

Change over 2004/2003 647,005.00
Change over 2005/2004 662,794.00
(1) o/w € 220,369 for S2P
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Professional relations and collective agreements
There were 6 meetings with employee representatives and 6 meetings with the
Works Council in 2005.

Health and Safety conditions
The CHSCT (Health and Safety Committee) met 6 times during 2005.

Training
11 training programs were held in 2005:
Preparation for electrical authorization: 1 person.
Air transportation of dangerous goods: 1 person.
CAT 3 fork-lift truck operator training: 22 persons.
Work gestures and posture training: 9 persons.
Operation of steam or water heating systems: 2 persons.
CHSCT initiation: 2 persons.
CHEMSTATION CPL software: 1 person.
English: 1 person.
First-aid workers: 3 persons.
BC H1 BR electrical authorization: 1 person.
Factory manager position: 1 person.

Employment and integration of disabled workers
The company currently employs two disabled workers.

Charity work
1 donation was made to UNICEF during 2005.

Outsourcing
Outsourcing linked to the normal operation of the company, such as the upkeep of
green spaces, office maintenance and financial communications, etc. amounted to
€ 1,647,677 for 2005 including € 611,193 in production outsourcing.
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NOTE 2 TABLE SUMMARIZING CURRENT DELEGATED POWERS FOR CAPITAL INCREASES 

Date Expiry date Authorized Increase(s) Increase(s) Outstanding
of EGM of delegated amount carried out in carried out amount on date

powers previous years during financial this table
year 2005 was created

Authorization to increase
the capital with pre-emptive 28/06/04 28/08/06 € 4,000,000 € 622,997.50
subscription rights maintained 27/06/05 27/08/07 € 4,000,000

Authorization to increase
the capital with no pre-emptive 28/06/04 28/08/06 € 4,000,000
subscription rights 27/06/05 27/08/07 € 4,000,000

Authorization to increase
the capital with no pre-emptive
subscription rights, within 
the annual limit of 10%
of the capital, with defined
procedures for setting 
the subscription price

Authorization to increase
the capital with no pre-emptive
subscription rights for 16/12/02 16/12/07 1% of capital
the benefit of members 28/06/04 28/06/09 1% of capital
of a company savings plan 27/06/05 27/08/07 1% of capital

Authorization to increase
the capital in remuneration
of the contribution of shares 27/06/05 27/08/07 10% of capital

Authorization to issue 28/06/04 28/08/07 2% of capital
stock options 27/06/05 27/08/08 2% of capital

Authorization to allocate
free shares to be issued

NOTE 3 FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

In euro 31/12/05 31/12/04 31/12/03 31/12/02 31/12/01

Capital at year-end
Share capital 3,991,689 3,246,777 3,246,777 3,246,777 3,246,777
Existing number of ordinary shares 2,661,126 2,164,518 2,164,518 2,164,518 2,164,518
Maximum number of future shares to be created 54,255 109,037 92,102 10,384 11,078

Operations and results for the financial year
Turnover before tax 28,136,599 25,603,647 19,360,000 21,276,752 15,575,678
Recurrent income 1,051,093 1,218,630 659,636 1,463,305 397,178
Income tax 404,117 418,943 199,638 15,244 3,812
Employee profit-sharing in respect of financial year 0 0 0 0 0
Net income 644,232 795,745 462,653 1,452,951 341,885
Earnings distributed 266,113 216,452 0 0 0

Earnings per share
Net earnings per share 0.2421 0.3676 0.2137 0.6713 0.1579
Dividend attached to each share 0.10 0.10 0 0 0

Personnel
Average headcount of salaried staff during financial year 123 109 80 65 48
Total payroll expenses 3,337,378 2,598,583 1,957,030 1,654,315 1,089,664
Total fringe benefits 1,387,889 931,410 719,058 604,924 397,678
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5. Report on Internal Control procedures
Chairman’s report on the internal control procedures implemented by the
company (Articles L.225-37 of the French Commercial Code)
Under the supervision of the Board of Directors, the management is responsible
for defining and implementing appropriate and effective internal control
procedures. In accordance with Article L.225-37 of the French Commercial
Code, the Chairman of the Board of Directors is required to report on:
■ the conditions for preparing and organizing the tasks to be carried out by the
Board of Directors;
■ internal control procedures;
■ where applicable, the restrictions that the Board of Directors imposes on  the
powers of the Chief Executive Officer. I would remind you on this point that
the Board of Directors has imposed no restrictions either on my own powers as
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer or on those of Thierry Lambert as
Deputy Chief Executive Officer.

As regards the other two points, note that this report covers all of the controlled
companies that fall within the Group’s consolidation scope.

1 CONDITIONS FOR PREPARING AND ORGANISING THE TASKS
CARRIED OUT BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Legal structure 
Naturex is a French Société Anonyme (public limited company) with a Board
of Directors. The Board appointed Thierry Lambert Deputy Chief Executive
Officer and myself Chairman and Chief Executive Officer on June 26, 2000
for a 6-year term of office.

The Board of Directors currently has a total of 4 members.

Other Group companies:

Maroc Extraction
is a Moroccan Société Anonyme (public limited company) with a Board of
Directors. I hold the position of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and
Thierry Lambert that of Chief Executive Officer. Naturex SA also holds a
directorship in the company.

Naturex Inc.
is an incorporated company, registered in the state of New Jersey.  It has 2 offices
in the states of New Jersey and California.

The Board of Directors consists of myself (President), Thierry Lambert (Vice-
President) and Burton K Haimes (Corporate Secretary), a lawyer with the firm
Thelen Reid Priest.

SCI les Broquetons
is a French Société Civile Immobilière (real estate company) of which I am the
General Manager and Thierry Lambert the Deputy General Manager.

Governing principles for Board meetings
The Board of Directors met 6 times in 2005. 

Meetings are not subject to a pre-defined, detailed schedule. 

Board meetings are held either between individuals physically present or by
videoconference in accordance with the articles of association.

Although this list is by no means exhaustive, the subjects discussed generally
concern:
■ the approval of the accounts;
■ the preparation of AGMs;
■ the implementation of share buyback programs authorized by the AGM;
■ the allocation of stock options;
■ the remuneration of salaried directors;
■ the approval of any loans to be taken out as applicable;
■ the validation of internal control procedures. 

The executive bodies of the other companies within the consolidation scope
(Committees, AGMs, Board of Directors’ meetings) meet according to local legal
requirements as well as on a needs basis.
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Committees
In view of the size of the company and the operational role of 3 out of 4
directors, no committees have been formed.

Internal regulations

The internal regulations were approved by the Works Council at the meeting on
March 19, 2004

2 INTERNAL CONTROL PROCEDURES

2-1 Policy and guidelines 
Naturex Group’s existing policy in this respect states that internal control is one
of the fundamental responsibilities of the Group’s General Management and the
management of each operating entity.

In line with the definition given in the COSO Report (1), the reference guidelines
adhered to by the Group, this process consists of implementing and constantly
adapting appropriate management systems, in order to provide the directors and
senior management with reasonable assurance that financial information is
reliable, that legal or internal regulations are adhered to and that the company’s
main processes operate effectively and efficiently. One of the aims of internal
control is to prevent and minimize the risk of error or prevent fraud.  Like any
control system, however, it cannot provide any absolute guarantees that the risk
of error or fraud is entirely eliminated or under control. 
(1) COSO: Committee of Sponsoring Organization of the Treadway Commission.

2-2 Key processes having an impact on the reliability 
of the Group’s financial information 
The processes that have an impact on the reliability of financial information
concern the following departments: 

■ Finance (drawing up of financial statements, consolidation, preparation of
financial communications, legal and tax management, etc.); 

■ Purchasing and procurement (contracts, procurement, booking of invoices,
payment of invoices);

■ Sales (from taking the order to recording invoices, payment of invoices and
collection);

■ IT (security management in particular);

■ Payroll and management of company commitments;

■ Management of fixed assets (tangible and intangible);

■ Inventory management (physical inventory, valuation, etc.);

■ Financing and cash management. 

2.2.1 Financial information reliability and procedure 
Accounting information is recorded for each site on an approved software.  All
accounting documents are sent as a priority to the accounts department for
recording. They are checked on a monthly basis for consistency using internal
procedures consisting primarily of reconciling management information with
information recorded in the different accounting systems.

At each closing of the accounts, a statement is issued per accounting accounts
stipulating the account balance and nature of the transactions made. The Chief
Accountant validates all such statements each of the sites.

Consolidated information is produced using data checked internally on a
monthly basis by the different companies and audited by outside firms. There is
no legal connection between the various outside firms used by the different
subsidiaries.

Each subsidiary produces a report on these monthly accounts, which provides
the General Management with an overall analysis of the Group’s activity.
The report is structured to highlight any significant discrepancies with budgets
and to provide a systematic comparison of a certain number of management
indicators so as to establish the need for any corrective measures.
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Inter-company reconciliations are carried out monthly and validated by the
Chief Accountant.

The consolidated accounts are centralized at head office once the consistency
of the financial information collected has first been checked within each
subsidiary.

Since the integration of Pure World on July 1, 2005, procedures to ensure the
reliability of financial information have gradually been implemented on this site
in order to harmonies Pure World’s procedures with the requirements of the
Group or to implement new procedures as necessary.

2.2.2 Purchasing and procurement procedure
All orders are subject to an order form countersigned by the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer or the Deputy Chief Executive Officer, except in the
case of direct debits which are checked by the accounts department and
expenses of less than 5,000 dirhams relating to operations in Morocco. Each
department head manages his own procurement in accordance with his budget.
Each subsidiary has its own purchasing department which is responsible for
procuring raw materials based on production schedules, for the logistics
management associated with the client order schedule, and for compliance with
the legal requirements governing imports.  Each month, the purchasing
departments reconcile the accounting entries for raw material procurement
invoices with actual store deliveries, except in the case of the New Jersey site
where this is performed by a person in charge of inventory flows. 

2.2.3 Sales management and administration procedure
For each order placed, an acknowledgement of receipt upon delivery is entered
into an order book, which in turn is used to create a production schedule.

When each invoice is prepared, it disappears from the order book and the
production schedule and generates an inventory outflow.

At each month-end, a reconciliation is performed between the turnover
recorded in the sales management and accounting applications.

Client accounts are monitored by the Head of Sales for  Naturex and where
necessary for Maroc Extraction, and by the US Head for Naturex Inc. They are
also controlled by the accounts department which informs the General
Management of any overdue payments.

2.2.4 IT procedure
IT security consists of different levels of protection that are independent of each
other.

We have an anti-virus system that scans the workstations as they start up.
The anti-virus system is automatically updated every hour via the supplier’s
website so that the detection and eradication of the latest registered viruses can
be carried out. The anti-virus system is installed on each workstation and server
and is coordinated via the main production server. It is designed to counteract
any virus resulting from the use of external media such as diskettes, CD-ROM,
but also internal media such as e-mail or Internet.

We are equipped with IT firewalls to avoid basic intrusions on our network
from hackers; Firewall are configured so as to provide network access only 
to a certain number of IP addresses that correspond either to users or to the
addresses of listed Internet access providers. Each site is equipped with
a firewall as they all a software application that allows them to access the
Avignon network. Moreover, all suppliers are party to an IT security charter that
lists any Internet addresses likely to infect our network and that they are
required to block.  These addresses are no longer accessible to users.  Finally,
a number of prohibited key words have been defined, which prevent persons from
viewing sites that contain these words (e.g. xenophobia, sex, downloads, etc.).

In order to preserve data, we back-up all information recorded on the network
drives every night. The back-up software operates with recording cassettes and
we have a constant supply of 10 cassettes, i.e. one for each working day
covering two weeks, and 5 additional spare cassettes. These cassettes are then
reused for the following weeks.  They are changed each morning after checking
to ensure that there have been no problems with the night back-up.
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The cassettes are stored in a fireproof safe. In addition to the overnight back-
ups, we have developed a program which snapshots our information system and
accounting software files onto the hard disk of an IT engineer every hour so that
only one hour of production, sales or management information entries is ever
lost should an application be seriously damaged and therefore irreparable.

In terms of hardware, each server has a duplicate, so that if the main servers fail,
the spare servers automatically take over thus ensuring operational continuity
of the networks.

All hardware required for the operation of the network is located in an 
air-conditioned, fireproof server room with a separate access.

Management of the network is carried out on a daily basis by the company’s IT
staff. However, since in-house expertise in terms of network administration is at
present still too limited, we outsource the developments or improvements to be
made to an IT services company.

Our servers are currently subject to several maintenance contracts:

■ a hardware maintenance contract for the data and Citrix servers. This contract
allows us to call upon our provider 24 hours a day and requires that they
intervene within a maximum of 8 hours following our call,
■ a maintenance contract on the two servers. This contract provides for
intervention within 8 working hours of our call in the event of software and
reinstallation problems.

2.2.5. Company management procedure
For the Naturex and Maroc Extraction sites, an annual schedule for social
security declarations is drawn up each year to ensure compliance with the legal
timeframes and payment conditions. At both sites, one person is specifically
responsible for managing employee issues and therefore for preparing monthly
salaries.  Every month, a report is submitted to the head of accounting in order
to ensure compliance with the company’s commitments.  For the two sites,
several subscriptions have been taken out with magazines specializing in
employment law and the company also calls upon the services of specialist
lawyers where necessary.

Naturex Inc. uses the services of an outside company to manage its payroll and
social security declarations.

2.2.6. Fixed assets procedure
All fixed assets are listed using software provided for this purpose. The accounts
department sends a copy of fixed asset invoices to each department head so that
the latter can confirm that these acquisitions do indeed form part of the
company’s fixed assets.

Each department head keeps a duplicate of the fixed asset invoices for his
department and is required to return this duplicate to the accounts department
if any of the assets to which it relates are sold on or disposed of.

Each department head is required to carry out an exhaustive review of fixed
assets once a year in order to reconcile accounting assets with physical assets.

2.2.7 Inventory management procedure
The inventories of all the sites are managed by IT application, with the
exception of the Californian site of Brucia for which no permanent inventory is
kept.  A study for the implementation of a permanent inventory at this site is in
progress. 

Inventory outflows as a result of sales are automatically eliminated from the IT
inventory. Other operations, such as the receipt of goods and production
operations are entered in the system by the warehouse personnel and inventory
managers. 

Inventory managers are responsible for ensuring that the permanent inventory
is consisted with all inventory movements entered.  A number of indicators
have been introduced in order to detect potential anomalies.

A physical spot-check inventory is carried out several times a year on a number
of products and twice a year for all products by two separate teams. The
inventory manager does a third count in the event of any discrepancies. 
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Pure World had a different inventory management system from the Group and
the harmonization of processes that take into account the management methods
of both Naturex and Pure World is in progress.

2.2.8. Financing and cash management
Financing and cash management is the responsibility of the Head of Finance
and Administration. He receives a daily report on the banking situation of each
account.

Each site has a designated person in charge of drawing up these daily situations
and notifying the Head of Finance and Administration of any anomalies. Each
site can consult its account statements on the Internet or via a banking
teletransmission software.

Only the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, the Deputy Chief Executive
Officer, the US Head, the Factory Manager in Morocco and the Head Scientist
have the necessary banking authorizations to incur expenses while at the same
time respecting purchasing and procurement procedures.

2-3 Persons responsible for internal control  
According to the Group’s internal control policy, internal control is the
responsibility of:

■ the managers of the operating units for subsidiaries (Maroc Extraction and
Naturex Inc.) and department heads (purchasing, sales, R&D, production,
accounting, IT) for Naturex SA;

■ the General Management, which validates orders (suppliers and clients) and
monitors all regulations.

Internal control of factors having an impact on the reliability of the Group’s
financial information (e.g. consolidation, accounting) is the particular
responsibility of Deputy Chief Executive Officer Thierry Lambert who is
assisted by the Head of the accounts department. 

2-4 Internal control documentation 
Most of the key aspects of internal control are included in the documentation
produced by the Group’s quality assurance units.

Subsidiary accounting and management data can be accessed in real time over
the Intranet.

2-5 Assessment of internal control
This is carried out by the Group’s General Management. 
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6. Statutory Auditors’ Report on the report
prepared by the Chairman on internal
control procedures
In our capacity as Statutory Auditors of Naturex SA, and pursuant to the
provisions of Article L. 225-235 of the French Commercial Code, we report to
you on the report prepared by the Chairman of your company in accordance
with the provisions of Article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code for the
year ended December 31, 2005.

It is for the Chairman to give an account, in his report, notably of the conditions
under which the tasks of the Board of Directors are prepared and organized and
the internal control procedures in place within the company.

It is our responsibility to report to you our observations on the information set
out in the Chairman’s report concerning the internal control procedures relating
to the preparation and processing of financial and accounting information.

We performed our audit in accordance with professional guidelines applicable
in France. These require us to perform procedures to assess the fairness of the
information set out in the Chairman’s report on the internal control procedures
relating to the preparation and processing of financial and accounting
information. These procedures notably consisted of:

■ obtaining an understanding of the objectives and general organization of
internal control, as well as the internal control procedures relating to the
preparation and processing of financial and accounting information, as set out
in the Chairman’s report;

■ obtaining an understanding of the work performed to support the information
given in the report. 

On the basis of this audit, we have no matters to report in connection with the
information and the assertions given on the internal control procedures relating
to the preparation and processing of financial and accounting information,
contained in the report of the Chairman of the Board of Directors, prepared in
accordance with the provisions of the last paragraph of Article L. 225-37 of the
French Commercial Code.

Avignon and les Angles, May 5, 2006

Statutory Auditors
KPMG S.A. Cabinet Jean-Marie Baudouin
Jean Gatinaud Jean-Marie Baudouin
Luc Rebuffo
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7. Consolidated balance sheet in euro at 31/12/2005

ASSETS

In euro Notes 31/12/2005 31/12/2004

Non-current assets 46,483,217 17,484,551
Goodwill 4 and 5 28,476,487 6,622,580
Other intangible fixed assets 5 82,213 111,717
Tangible fixed assets 5 16,315,712 10,624,478
Financial assets 5 1,543,389 55,446
Deferred tax assets 8 65,416 70,330

Current assets 41,452,891 22,968,271
Inventories 6 and 13.4 23,974,252 13,587,112
Tax asset receivables 725,111 22,873
Trade and other receivables 7 12,336,635 7,130,473
Cash and cash equivalents 9 4,416,893 2,227,813

Total assets 13.9 87,936,108 40,452,822

LIABILITIES

In euro Notes 31/12/2005 31/12/2004

Capital 3,991,689 3,246,777
Premiums 25,205,462 14,579,951
Consolidated reserves and earnings (Group share) 10,480,445 6,479,922
Consolidated reserves and earnings (Minorities) 767,141 948,912
Translation differences (Group share) (3,130,007) (4,261,162)
Translation differences (Minorities) (53,236) (89,490)
Shareholders’ equity 37,261,494 20,904,910

Group share 36,547,589 20,045,488
Minority interests 713,905 859,422
Non-current liabilities 30,436,193 8,475,670

Long-term financial debt 11.1 29,661,530 8,475,670
Deferred taxes 10 774,663 0
Current liabilities 20,238,421 11,072,242

Short-term provisions 11 14,908 9,873
Tax liabilities 4,654 636,524
Trade and other payables 9,680,538 4,268,499
Other financial liabilities 12.2 6,645,806 2,491,551
Bank overdrafts and loans 12.3 3,892,515 3,665,795

Total equity and liabilities 13.9 87,936,108 40,452,822



8. Consolidated income statement in euro at 31/12/2005
In euro Notes 31/12/2005 31/12/2004

Revenue 13.1 and 13.2 50,146,885 34,804,970
Immobilized production 570,560 446,314
Operating subsidies 6,472 58,384
Other operating revenues 13.8 2,277,389 1,028,082
Purchases (19,887,305) (13,991,293)
Employee benefits expense 14 (9,662,637) (6,185,141)
External expenses 15 (13,705,438) (9,545,183)
Taxes (463,605) (341,499)
Depreciation and amortization expense 5.3 (2,242,339) (1,480,931)
Other operating expenses 16 (496,837) (111,699)
Operating income 13.3 6,543,145 4,682,004

Cash and cash equivalents 128,629 50,329
Cost of gross financial debt (1,189,955) (549,679)
Cost of net financial debt 17.1 (1,061,326) (499,350)

Other financial income and expenses 17.2 198,316 112,642

Tax expense 18.1 and 18.2 (1,673,971) (1,414,416)

INCOME 4,006,164 2,880,880

Group share 3,950,707 2,756,040
Minority interests 55,457 124,840
Earnings per share (Group share) 1.4846 1.2733
Diluted earnings per share (Group share) 19 1.3529 1.2107
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9. Statement of cash flow in euro at 31/12/2005
In euro 31/12/2005 31/12/2004

Income 4,006,163 2,880,880
Net depreciation and allowances 2,247,374 1,400,496
Income and expenses linked to stock options 72,533 39,762
Change in deferred taxes 779,577 (55,598)
Capital gains on disposals (9,220) 80,435
Cost of net financial debt 1,061,326 499,350
Net tax expense 1,673,971 1,414,416
Cash flow before cost of net financial debt and taxes 9,831,724 6,259,741
Taxes paid (1,424,372) (1,124,351)
Change in working capital requirement linked to operations (1) (7,610,713) (3,181,942)
Net cash flow from operating activities 796,639 1,953,448

Disbursements 
Goodwill (20,724,138)
Capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment (13,901) (1,464,362)
Intangible capital expenditure (7,913,548) (2,365,141)
Financial investments (1,486,565) (33,217)

Cash receipts
Disposal of intangible fixed assets 295,395
Net cash flow from investing activities (29,842,757) (3,862,720)
Capital increase - shareholders of the parent 11,370,424
Acquisition of own shares (2,424) 29,744
Dividends paid to shareholders of the parent (257,521)
Cash receipts on new loans 26,341,371 8,489,359
Loan repayments (5,155,511) (3,546,557)
Earnings on financial investments 128,629 50,329
Financial interest paid (1,189,955) (549,679)
Net cash flow from financing activities 31,235,013 4,473,196
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (2) (226,535) (2,285,955)
Change in cash flow (3) 1,962,360 277,969
Opening cash position (1,437,982)
Closing cash position 524,378

(1)
Increase in tax receivables (702,238)
Increase in inventories (10,387,141)
Increase in trade and other receivables (5,206,161)
Reduction in tax liabilities (631,870)
Net tax expense (1,673,971)
Taxes paid 1,424,372
Increase in trade and other payables 5,412,038
Increase in other financial liabilities 4,154,258
Change in working capital requirement (7,610,713)

(2)
Shareholders' equity 1,167,409
Fixed assets (1,495,592)
Amortization 101,648
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (226,535)

(3) Closing Opening Change

Cash 4,416,893 2,227,813 2,189,080
Bank balances (3,892,515) (3,665,795) (226,720)
Cash and cash equivalents 524,378 (1,437,982) 1,962,360



10. Changes in shareholders’ equity in euro at 31/12/2005
Group share Capital Premiums Own Group Translation Income Shareholders'
(in euro) shares reserves differences (Group) equity

(Group) (Group)

Shareholders' equity at 01/01/2004 3,246,777 14,579,951 (72,122) 2,051,671 (3,093,018) 1,674,828 18,388,087

Appropriation of income 1,674,828 (1,674,828) 
Change in own shares 29,744 29,744
Allocation of stock options 39,762 39,762
Change in translation differences (1,168,145) (1,168,145)
Income for the year 2,756,040 2,756,040
Total income and expenses

booked over the period 1,587,895

Shareholders' equity at 31/12/2004 3,246,777 14,579,951 (42,378) 3,766,261 (4,261,163) 2,756,040 21,633,383

Capital increase 744,912 10,625,511 11,370,423
Reserved capital increase 237,228 237,228
(Maroc Extraction subsidiary)
Appropriation of income 2,756,040 (2,756,040) 0
Dividends paid (257,521) (257,521)
Change in own shares (2,425) (2,425)
Allocation of stock options 72,533 72,533
Change in translation differences 1,131,156 1,131,156
Income for the year 3,950,707 3,950,707
Total income and expenses

booked over the period 5,081,863

Shareholders' equity at 31/12/2005 3,991,689 25,205,462 (44,803) 6,574,541 (3,130,007) 3,950,707 38,135,484

Consolidated Shareholders' Minority Translation Income Shareholders' Total
equity reserves differences (minorities) equity shareholders'

(Group) (minorities) (minorities) equity

Shareholders' equity at 01/01/2004 18,388,087 666,682 (96,665) 157,390 727,407 19,115,494

Appropriation of income 157,390 (157,390)
Change in own shares 29,744 29,744
Allocation of stock options 39,762 39,762
Change in translation differences (1,168,145) 7,175 7,175 (1,160,970)
Income for the year 2,756,040 124,840 124,840 2,880,880
Total income and expenses

booked over the period 1,587,895 132,015 1,719,910

Shareholders' equity at 31/12/2004 20,045,488 824,072 (89,490) 124,840 859,422 22,624,820

Capital increase 11,370,423 11,370,423
Reserved capital increase
(Maroc Extraction subsidiary) 237,228 (237,228) (237,228) 0
Appropriation of income 0 124,840 (124,840) 0
Dividends paid (257,521) (257,521)
Change in own shares (2,425) (2,425)
Allocation of stock options 72,533 72,533
Change in translation differences 1,131,156 36,254 36,254 1,167,410
Income for the year 3,950,707 55,457 55,457 4,006,164
Total income and expenses

booked over the period 5,081,863 91,711 5,173,574

Shareholders' equity at 31/12/2005 36,547,589 711,684 (53,236) 55,457 713,905 37,261,494
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11. Notes to the consolidated financial
statements

NOTE 1 GENERAL INFORMATION

1.1 Key facts 
Yearly turnover at December 31, 2005 amounted to € 50.1M, up 44%.
At constant USD rates, growth stands at 45.7%.

Income after tax amounts to € 4,006,000, up 39% on the previous year.

At beginning of January 2005, Naturex realized a € 10.66M capital increase
(issue expenses of € 0.44M) by issuing 414,865 shares with warrants with a par
value of € 25.70. Two warrants entitle holders to subscribe to a new share in the
company at an issue price of € 34 between now and January 27, 2008.
At December 31, 2005, 2,743 warrants had been converted.

Naturex also carried out, through the absorption of the intercompany loan
account, a capital increase in respect of Naturex Inc. (wholly-owned subsidiary)
in the amount of € 5,451,602 and a capital increase in respect of Maroc
Extraction (now a 89.29%-owned subsidiary) in the amount of € 1,973,562.

Following Naturex S.A.’s takeover bid for Pure World, Inc. at a price of US$ 4.30
per share payable in cash, Naturex acquired 100% of Pure World Inc. shares in
July 2005. The total cost of this acquisition was US$ 41.5M, including US$
34.8M used to purchase shares and US$ 2.1M used to purchase all options on
Pure World’s capital.

Turnover for Pure World Inc. amounted to US$ 31.3M for financial year 2005.

The acquisition was financed in cash (€ 8.5M) and via two loans:
■ US$ 22.5M (€ 18.6M) repayable over 7 years,
■ 7.5M repayable according to new shares subscribed as a result of converting
the warrants issued at the time of the capital increase in January 2005.

Pure World Inc. and its subsidiaries have merged with Naturex Inc. under the
commercial name of Naturex Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Naturex.

Pure World Inc., whose head office is in South Hackensack, New Jersey, devised
and produced plant extracts for use in the cosmetic, food processing, flavoring,
pharmaceutical and nutraceutical industries.

1.2 Events after financial year end
We have no significant event to report.

NOTE 2-1 CONSOLIDATION SCOPE

The consolidated companies are as follows:

Naturex SA Parent company
Pôle Technologique Agroparc
Montfavet - 84140 Avignon (France)
Siret No.: 384 093 563 000 29
APE Code: 246 E

Maroc extraction Subsidiary
Technopôle Nouasser
Aéroport Mohamed V
B.P. 42
20240 Nouasser (Morocco)

Naturex Incorporated Subsidiary
375 Huyler Street
07 606 South Hackensack (N.J.)

S.C.I. Les Broquetons Subsidiary
Site d’Agroparc BP 1218
84 911 Avignon (France)

They are owned directly or indirectly based on the following percentages:
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Company % control % stake

Naturex Parent company Parent company
Maroc extraction 89.29% 89.29%
Naturex Inc. 100% 100%
S.C.I. Les Broquetons 100% 100%

■ Change in consolidation scope:

The consolidation scope did not change over financial year 2005, except for the
percentage stake in the subsidiary Maroc Extraction. This increased from
85.72% to 89.29% as a result of Naturex SA subscribing to a capital increase in
March 2005.

■ The following company is not consolidated:

Gaïa Herbs Sub-subsidiary
108 Island Ford Road
28 712 Brevard (N.C)

Naturex Incorporated owns 35% of this company’s shares but holds no voting
rights and exercises no significant influence over the company as defined under
IAS 28. The shareholding recorded in the consolidated financial statements
at December 31, 2005 amounts to € 1,279,986.

This company has no other commercial or financial links with the Group.

Table - non-consolidated shareholding:

In euro Gaïa herbs
USA

Securities account value (gross) 1,279,986
Securities account value (net) 1,279,986
Related receivables 0
Share of capital 35%
Capital 1,333,051
Reserves, issue premium and retained earnings 1,467,272
Income 414,566
Turnover 9,637,638
Dividend received 0
Non-reimbursed loans and advances 0
Guarantees given 0

Note: US dollar at the closing rate and average rate for turnover

The data provided for Gaïa Herbs is as at November 30, 2005, since information
as at December 31, 2005 is not yet available.

Ad hoc entity:
No company in the consolidation scope is a shareholder or affiliate of an ad hoc
entity.

Liquidation:
Sub-subsidiary P.A.I, inactive for several years now, officially declared the
cessation of its activities during financial year 2005.
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NOTE 2-2 RELATED PARTIES

The total gross remuneration of Naturex’s management bodies stood at € 577,000, including fringe benefits and is paid by
Naturex Inc. (€ 250,000) and Naturex (€ 327,000).

The different subscription or purchase options allocated to executive officers are summarized in the table below.

Date of AGM Plan No.1 Plan No.2 Plan No.3 Plan No.4 Plan No.5 Plan No.6 Plan No.7 Plan No.8 Total

Date of Board
meeting 02/01/01 04/07/01 21/12/01 21/12/01 30/01/03 06/01/04 06/01/04 06/05/05
Type of option Purchase Purchase Purchase Subscription Subscription Purchase Subscription Subscription
Number of options allocated to:
Jacques Dikansky 0 0 0 4,750 0 1,690 14,250 15,000 35,690
Thierry Lambert 0 0 0 250 0 89 750 2,500 3,589
Stéphane Ducroux 198 602 198 2,513 500 0 2,500 2,500 9,011
Start date for
exercise
of options 02/01/04 04/07/04 21/12/04 21/12/04 30/01/06 06/01/07 06/01/07 06/05/08
Expiry date 02/01/06 04/07/06 21/12/06 21/12/06 30/01/08 06/01/09 06/01/09 06/05/10
Purchase or
subscription price 11.61 11.34 11.86 11.86 12.83 12.72 12.72 27.54

NOTE 3 PRINCIPLES AND METHODS

Accounting reference system
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the IFRS standards adopted by the European
Union. The consolidated financial statements for financial year 2005 are the first to be prepared using the IFRS reference system.

The provisions of IFRS 1 (first-time application of international financial reporting standards) have been applied.

The Board of Directors closed the accounts on April 18, 2006.

IFRS reporting for comparative periods
The impact on shareholders’ equity at 01/01/04 and 31/12/04 as referred to in the management report and published in the 2004
reference document has been corrected for the following restatements, which were omitted by mistake:

(a) application of standards IAS 21.15 and 33 relating to the booking under reserves of translation differences on net
investments abroad, 

(b) application of standard IFRS 2 relating to the allocation of stock options.

Lastly, a specific heading has been created for own shares.

Impact of restated IFRS standards 31/12/2004
Shareholders’ equity (Group) Capital Premiums Treasury Reserves Translation Income Group 
In euro stock difference share

Shareholders’ equity in 2004 under IFRS 3,246,777 14,579,951 0 3,684,121 (4,429,928) 2,951,313 20,032,234
Translation method for foreign subsidiaries (a) 168,765 (168,765) 0
Stock options (b) 39,762 (26,508) 13,254
Specific heading for own shares (42,378) 42,378 0
Shareholders’ equity under IFRS 3,246,777 14,579,951 (42,378) 3,766,261 (4,261,163) 2,756,040 20,045,488

Minority interests Reserves Translation Income Minorities
In euro difference

Shareholders’ equity in 2004 under IFRS
(unchanged) 824,072 (89,490) 124,840 859,422

Consolidated equity Capital Premiums Treasury Reserves Translation Income
In euro stock difference

Shareholders’ equity in 2004 under IFRS 3,246 777 14,579,951 0 4,508,193 (4,519,418) 3,076,153 20,891,656

Translation method for foreign subsidiaries (a) 168,765 (168,765) 0
Stock options (b) 39,762 (26,508) 13,254
Specific heading for own shares (42,378) 42,378 0
Shareholders’ equity under IFRS 3,246,777 14,579,951 (42,378) 4,590,333 (4,350,653) 2,880,880 20,904,910



After restatement, the impact on shareholders’ equity at January 1, 2004 and December 31, 2004 is as follows:

Impact of IFRS standards 01/01/2004
Shareholders’ equity (Group) Capital Premiums Treasury Reserves Translation Income Group
In euro stock difference share

Shareholders’ equity under French standards3,246,777 14,579,951 0 2,051,671 (1,141,910) 1,674,828 20,411,317

Translation method for foreign subsidiaries (1) (1,951,108) (1,951,108)
Amortization of business assets (2)

Goodwill amortization (3)

Impact of deferred tax (4)

Presentation method for own shares (5) (72,122) (72,122)

Shareholders’ equity under IFRS 3,246,777 14,579,951 (72,122) 2,051,671 (3,093,018) 1,674,828 18,388,087

Minority interests Reserves Translation Income Minorities
In euro difference

Shareholders’ equity under French standards 666,682 (22,228) 157,390 801,844
Translation method for foreign subsidiaries (1) (74,437) (74,437)

Shareholders’ equity under IFRS 666,682 (96,665) 157,390 727,407

Consolidated equity Capital Premiums Treasury Reserves Translation Income Consolidated
In euro stock difference

Shareholders’ equity under French standards3,246,777 14,579 951 0 2,718,353 (1,164,138) 1,832,218 21,213,161

Translation method for foreign subsidiaries (1) (2,025,545) (2,025,545)
Amortization of business assets (2)

Goodwill amortization (3)

Impact of deferred tax (4)

Presentation method for own shares (5) (72,122) (72,122)

Shareholders’ equity under IFRS 3,246,777 14,579 951 (72,122) 2,718,353 (3,189,683) 1,832,218 19,115,494

Impact of IFRS standards 31/12/2004
Shareholders’ equity (Group) Capital Premiums Treasury Reserves Translation Income Group share
In euro stock difference 

Sareholder's aquity under  French standards 3,246,777 14,579,951 0 3,726,499 1,914,090 2,615,729 22,254,866 

Translation method for foreign subsidiaries (1) and (a) (2,347,073) (168,765) (2,515,838)
Amortization of business assets (2) 462,668 462,668
Goodwill amortization (3) 30,223 30,223
Impact of deferred tax (4) (157,307) (157,307)
Stock options net of tax (b) 39,762 (26,508) 13,254
Presentation method for own shares (5) (42,378) (42,378)

Shareholders’ equity under IFRS 3,246,777 14,579,951 (42,378) 3,766,261 (4,261,163) 2,756,040 20,045,488

Minority interests Reserves Translation Income Minorities
In euro difference 
Shareholders’ equity under French standards 824,072 (14,836) 124,840 934,076
Translation method for foreign subsidiaries (1) (74,654) (74,654)
Shareholders’ equity under IFRS 824,072 (89,490) 124,840 859,422
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Consolidated equity Capital Premiums Treasury Reserves Translation Income Consolidated
In euro stock difference

Shareholders’ equity 
under French standards 3,246,777 14,579,951 0 4,550,571 (1,928,926) 2,740,569 23,188,942

Translation method for 
foreign subsidiaries (1) and (a) (2,421,727) (168,765) (2,590,492)
Amortization of business assets (2) 462,668 462,668
Goodwill amortization (3) 30,223 30,223
Impact of deferred tax (4) (157,307) (157,307)
Stock options net of tax (b) 39,762 (26,508) 13,254
Presentation method for own shares (5) (42,378) (42,378)

Shareholders’ equity under IFRS 3,246,777 14,579,951 (42,378) 4,590,333 (4,350,653) 2,880,880 20,904,910

(1) The assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated at the closing rate.  The differences are entered under shareholders’ equity.
Under French standards, these assets were valued at their historical rate.
(2) US business assets are maintained under assets at their net amortization value on January 1, 2004 and restated under goodwill. Amortization charges for financial year 2004 are
therefore written back. 
(3) Goodwill is maintained under assets at its net book value on January 1, 2004 and is no longer subject to systematic amortization but to an annual amortization test.
(4) With US business assets no longer amortized, US provision for deferred tax in the US is written back in the accounts. 
(5) Treasury stock is now entered after deduction from shareholders’ equity. 
(a) Change in translation methods for foreign subsidiaries. Translation differences linked to the elimination of the blocked Naturex/Maroc Extraction account.
(b) Application of IFRS 2 governing the allocation of stock options.

Lastly, the transition from French standards to IFRS in the income statement at December 31, 2004 is set out in the transition
table below:

Income statement 31/12/2004 Ref. IFRS 31/12/2004
In euro French accounting adjustments IFRS

principles based on
IFRS presentation

methods

Revenue 34,804,970 34,804,970
Immobilized production 446,314 446,314
Operating subsidies 58,384 58,384
Other operating revenues 1,028,082 1,028,082
Purchases (13,991,293) (13,991,293)
Employee benefits expense (6,145,379) (a) 39,762 (6,185,141)
External expenses (9,545,183) (9,545,183)
Taxes (341,499) (341,499)
Depreciation/amortization charges (1,973,822) (b) (492,891) (1,480,931)
Other operating expenses (111,699) (111,699)
Operating income 4,228,875 (453,129) 4,682,004
Cash and cash equivalents 50,329 50,329
Cost of gross financial debt (549,679) (549,679)
Cost of net financial debt (499,350) (499,350)
Other financial income and expenses 365,789 (c) 253,147 112,642
Tax expense (1,354,745) (d) 59,671 (1,414,416)

Net income 2,740,569 (140,311) 2,880,880
Group share 2,615,729 (140,311) 2,756,040
Minority interests 124,840 124,840

(a) Application of IFRS 2 governing the allocation of stock options
(b) In accordance with standard IAS 38, goodwill (€ 30,000) and business assets (€ 380,000 and € 80,000) are no longer amortized on the opening balance sheet,
i.e. as of January 1, 2004
(c) Exchange rate on blocked current account. 
(d) The US deferred tax relating to the fiscal amortization of the business assets of Brucia and Hauser is therefore written back under deferred tax debt (€ 157,000)
Tax written back on stock options and exchange rate loss on blocked current account (39762/3)



In application of the provisions of IFRS 1 governing the first-time applica-
tion of IFRS, the Group has opted for the following treatment:
■ no retroactive restatement in respect of the business combinations formed
prior to January 1, 2004;
■ the cumulative exchange rate differences resulting from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign subsidiaries prior to January 1, 2004 have been
kept separately under shareholders’ equity and will be booked under income in
the event of the withdrawal from the consolidation scope of the corresponding
subsidiaries;
■ tangible and intangible assets have not been revalued;
■ IFRS 2 has been applied only to those stock option plans allocated after
November 7, 2002 and whose rights had not yet been acquired at January 1,
2005;
■ lastly, the company has applied standards IAS 32 and 39 to financial
instruments as from January 1, 2004.

Consolidation methods

Goodwill and amortization methods
Naturex SA is a founder (50%) of Naturex Incorporated and Maroc Extraction,
which is itself the founder of Production Agro Industrielle. 

In 2001, Naturex SA increased its stake in S.C.I. Les Broquetons from 48.48% to
100% and generated goodwill of € 47,586.

In 2002, Naturex SA increased its stake in Maroc Extraction from 82.92% to
85.72% and generated goodwill of € 33,562.

In 2005, Naturex SA increased its stake in Maroc Extraction from 85.72% to
89.29% and generated negative goodwill of € 25,859.

In July 2005, Naturex SA formed the company Naturex Acquisition Corp. This
company acquired all the shares in Pure World Inc, which itself owned Pure
World Botanicals (100%) and Gaia Herbs (35%) as well as various subsidiaries
(100%) with no activity. Pure World Inc subsequently absorbed Naturex
Acquisition Corp. in July and Pure World Botanicals in September. At end-
November, Pure World Inc absorbed Naturex Inc. and assumed its name.

This acquisition generated goodwill in the US corporate accounts valued at €
14,939,218 and additional consolidation goodwill valued at € 5,784,919
(balance sheet value: € 20,724,137).

This goodwill has been subject to depreciation tests since January 1, 2004, the
date of transition to IFRS. These tests give no indication that the assets have
suffered a drop in value.

Entry value of assets and liabilities
■ The dates for closing the accounts are all set at December 31.
■ The accounts of foreign subsidiaries and sub-subsidiaries are translated at the
closing rate.

Financial year Euros Moroccan Dirham US dollar

31/12/2004 0.0886 1.0000
1.0000 11.2901
0.7342 1.0000
1.0000 1.3621

31/12/2005 0.0895 1.0000
1.0000 11.1682
0.8477 1.0000
1.0000 1.1797

In Naturex Inc.’s income statement, the rate used is the annual average rate,
i.e. € 0.8 (€ 1 = $ 1.25). For Maroc Extraction, the rate used is also the
annual average rate, i.e. € 0.0897 (€ 1 = MD 11.15).
In the absence of major fluctuations, this rate is considered to be close
to the exchange rates at the transaction dates.
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Valuation rules and methods

Goodwill
Goodwill is valued at cost, minus any cumulative depreciation in value. It is
allocated to cash generating units and is not amortized.  However, it is subject to
annual amortization tests.

All goodwill values are examined on each closing date in order to assess
whether there is any indication of a depreciation in value.

Where this is the case, the recoverable value of the goodwill in question is
estimated.

This value consists of the highest difference between an asset’s fair value minus
any sales costs, and its useful value.

To assess the useful value, the cash generating units used are based on
profitability and revenue performance criteria per category of goodwill. 

Projections are produced by applying a discount rate of 2.58%, equating to the
average US inflation rate over 5 years.

Intangible assets (excluding goodwill)
Development expenses, i.e. resulting from the application of research to a
project aimed at producing new or substantially improved products and
processes, are booked as assets, notably when the Group can demonstrate the
technical and commercial feasibility of the product or process and the
availability of sufficient funds to complete the development process.

At end-2005, all development costs incurred were booked as expenses. These
costs do not satisfy the criteria for assets stipulated in IAS 38, particularly as
regards potential commercial openings.

The other intangible assets acquired have been booked at cost, minus any
cumulative amortization and cumulative depreciation.

Estimated useful lives are as follows:

Asset category Useful life

Software 3-4 years (straight-line)

Tangible assets
Tangible assets are valued at cost, minus any cumulative amortization and
depreciation.

Depreciation is booked under expenses according to the straight-line method
over the estimated useful life of each tangible asset.

Estimated useful lives are as follows:

Asset categories Useful life

Buildings on own land 15-20 years (straight-line)
Buildings on leasehold land 10-20 years (straight-line)
Plant and equipment 5-10 years (straight-line)
Other tangible assets 2-10 years (straight-line)

Leasing contracts that result in the transfer to the Group of nearly all the risks
and benefits inherent in the ownership of an asset are classified as finance lease
contracts. These equipment lease contracts are treated as credit acquisitions.
Equipment is depreciated using the straight-line method over a period of 5
years, with the surplus portion of the rent constituting the financial expenses
associated with the credit. 
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Financial assets

Financial assets consist of deposits and guarantees, and unlisted securities
whose fair value cannot be accurately determined. They are therefore valued at
cost (IAS 39.46c). Moreover, there is no objective method of ascertaining
depreciation for these securities.

Inventories

Inventories of materials and other supplies are valued at purchase cost using the
FIFO (first-in, first-out) method.

Finished or semi-finished goods are valued using the FIFO method at the cost
price which deducts all production costs from the purchase price:
■ raw materials;
■ import expenses;
■ outsourcing;
■ water, gas, electricity;
■ adjuvants;
■ packaging;
■ waste removal cost;
■ expensed salaries;
■ depreciation.

A provision for depreciation is booked when the purchase cost or cost price falls
below the market price.

Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable are valued at their fair value when they are first booked and
then at their amortized cost, minus any depreciation in value.

A provision for depreciation is booked when there is a collection risk (even
partial) on receivables.

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions are booked at the historic rate at the time they are carried out.
Receivables not settled at the closing date are valued at the closing rate,
resulting in receivables and translation differences being booked to the income
statement.

Staff benefits
Provisions do not include an amount for retirement commitments or
restructuring operations.

Severance pay in respect of Naturex SA is insured with the company Predica.
The treatment of this severance pay satisfies the criteria of IAS 19. It is a defined
contribution scheme, with no residual commitment for the Group.

The other consolidated Group companies have no long-term or post-
employment benefits.

Sale of assets
The proceeds from asset sales are entered in the income statement when the
material risks and benefits inherent in the ownership of the assets have been
transferred to the purchaser.

Consolidated turnover consists of the total sales (excluding tax) resulting from
the ordinary activities of consolidated Group companies, after elimination of
internal operations.

Comparability of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2005 and those at
December 31, 2004 are presented using the same methods.
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Pro-forma information

The pro-forma statements drawn up as at December 31, 2005 and audited on the basis of the integration of Pure World on
January 1, 2005, indicate full-year turnover of € 63.4M (71.1% of which was generated in North America) for net income after
tax of € 4.6M. 

These statements have been drawn up based on the integration of Pure World’s income statement in the first half of 2005,
Naturex having consolidated Pure World in its consolidated financial statements as of July 1, 2005. The financial statements
were drawn up using the same accounting methods that the Group applied to prepare its consolidated financial statements as at
December 31, 2005. 

These statements have been prepared in accordance with paragraph 20.2 of Annexes I and II of EU regulation 809/2004. This
information is of purely illustrative value and is not representative of the company’s actual results.

In euro Reason 31/12/2005 Integration Pro-forma Pro-forma 
for adjustments published of Pure World adjustments 31/12/2005

H1 statements
(not adjusted)

Revenue (a) 50,146,885 13,261,940 (12,612) 63,396,213
Immobilized production 570,560 570,560
Operating subsidies 6,472 6,472
Other operating revenues 2,277,389 2,277,389
Purchases (b) (19,887,305) (6,528,827) (12,612) (26,428,744)
Employee benefits expense (c) (9,662,637) (2,258,111) 164,841 (11,755,907)
External expenses (13,705,438) (2,363,726) (16,069,164)
Taxes (463,605) (5,144) (468,749)
Depreciation/amortization charges (2,242,339) (663,596) (2,905,935)
Other operating expenses (d) (496,837) (526,658) 477,592 (545,902)

Operating income 6,543,145 915,878 617,209 8,076,233

Cash and cash equivalents 128,629 128,629
Cost of gross financial debt (e) (1,189,955) (83,516) (804,691) (2,078,162)

Cost of net financial debt (1,061,326) (83,516) (804,691) (1,949,533)
Other financial income and expenses 198,316 198,316
Tax expenses (1,673,971) (13,737) (1,687,708)

Income 4,006,164 818,625 (187,482) 4,637,309

Group share 3,950,707 4,581,852
Minority interests 55,457 55,457

Earnings per share (Group share) 1.4846 1.7218
Diluted earnings per share (Group share) 1.3529 1.5691

(a) and (b) elimination of intragroup operations

(c) severance pay paid

(d) all of the acquisition costs paid by Pure World in the first half

(e) financial expenses paid by Naturex in respect of the debt contracted for the purchase of Pure World

With the exception of loan interest running until 2012, all other pro-forma adjustments are not expected to have a prolonged
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

NOTE 4 GOODWILL

Goodwill Amount at 31/12/05 (in euro)

SCI Les Broquetons 2001 47,586
Maroc Extraction 2002 33,562
Brucia 2002 6,030,634
Hauser 2004 1,640,567
Pure World 2005 20,724,137

Total 28,476,486
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NOTE 5 NON-CURRENT ASSETS

5.1 Acquisitions and disposals

Asset categories Amount Increases Contributions Disposals Translation Amount
2005 in euro 01/01/2005 Acquisitions or scrapping (1) differences 31/12/2005

Goodwill 6,622,580 19,754,025 970,112 0 1,129,769 28,476,487
Intangible 181,168 13,902 0 4,132 8,154 199,091
Software - brands 181,168 13,902 0 4,132 8,154 199,091
Tangible 17,234,326 3,739,226 16,441,127 1,413,583 355,122 36,356,218
Land 240,258 0 0 0 23,005 263,263
Building on own land 1,677,984 693,512 0 221,629 89,860 2,239,727
Building on leasehold land 1,738,608 0 0 7,547 19,145 1,750,206
Plant and equipment 8,961,567 818,624 11,675,485 451,401 135,120 21,139,395
Leased Transp. Equip. & Plant 87,085 53,679 0 0 0 141,764
Other tangible assets 4,352,602 1,234,268 4,765,642 250,909 89,782 10,191,384
Work in progress 176,223 939,143 0 482,096 (1,790) 631,480
Financial assets 55,446 52,303 1,434,262 1,169 2,547 1,543,389
Securities 0 0 1,279,986 0 0 1,279,986
Loans 0 0 89,411 0 0 89,411
Deposits and guarantees 55,446 52,303 64,864 1,169 2,547 173,991

Total 24,093,520 23,559,456 18,845,501 1,418,884 1,495,592 66,575,185

(1) including the transfer from one item to another of € 483,265.

Asset categories Amount Increases Contributions Disposals Translation Amount
2004 in euro 01/01/2004 Acquisitions or scrapping differences 31/12/2004

Goodwill 5,682,223 1,420,876 0 (480,519) 6,622,580
Intangible 160,550 43,486 38,582 15,714 181,168
Software - brands 160,550 43,486 38,582 15,714 181,168
Tangible 15,334,224 2,365,141 396,693 (68,346) 17,234,326
Land 251,939 0 0 (11,682) 240,258
Building on own land 1,696,327 26,868 0 (45,211) 1,677,984
Building on leasehold land 1,746,436 0 18,061 10,232 1,738,608
Plant and equipment 7,727,161 1,484,818 255,306 4,894 8,961,567
Leased Transp. Equip. & Plant 87,085 0 0 0 87,085
Other tangible assets 3,825,276 677,232 123,327 (26,580) 4,352,602
Work in progress 0 176,223 0 0 176,223
Financial assets 108,956 30,661 83,270 (901) 55,446
Securities 80,436 0 80,436 0 0
Deposits and guarantees 28,520 30,661 1,834 (901) 55,446

Total 21,285,953 3,860,165 0 518,546 (534,051) 24,093,520

Naturex business assets are secured in respect of € 100,000 euros and those of Maroc Extraction up to the 9th line.

5.2 Lease finance assets

Variances Gross amount Gross amount Remaining amount Remaining amount
at 31/12/2004 at 31/12/2005 to be written off to be written off

(in euro) (in euro) 31/12/2005 (in euro) 31/12/2004 (in euro)

Value of fixed assets 87,084 140,764 46,581 16,461
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5.3 Amortization and depreciation

Asset categories Amount at Charges Dep./Amort. Contributions Withdrawals Translation Amount
2005 in euro 01/01/2005 or scrapping differences 31/12/2005

Intangible 69,450 45,931 0 688 2,185 116,878
Software - brands 69,450 45,931 0 688 2,185 116,878
Tangible 6,609,849 2,196,409 11,783,542 648,757 99,463 20,040,506
Building on own land 415,951 66,845 0 17,545 6,678 471,929
Building on leasehold land 494,552 91,541 0 4,306 5,327 587,115
Plant and equipment 4,176,704 1,345,922 9,064,715 405,801 58,387 14,239,927
Leased Transp. Equip. & Plant 70,624 23,559 0 0 0 94,183
Other tangible assets 1,452,016 668,543 2,718,827 221,105 29,070 4,647,352
Financial assets 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other investments 0 0 0 0 0

Total 6,679,299 2,242,340 0 11,783,542 649,445 101,648 20,157,383

Asset categories Amount at Charges Dep./Amort. Contributions Withdrawals Translation Amount
2004 in euro 01/01/2004 or scrapping differences 31/12/2004

Intangible 65,157 44,667 38,582 (1,791) 69,450
Software - brands 65,157 44,667 38,582 (1,791) 69,450
Tangible 5,573,608 1,436,265 396,694 (3,331) 6,609,849
Building on own land 349,182 69,030 0 (2,261) 415,951
Building on leasehold land 419,579 90,942 18,061 2,092 494,552
Plant and equipment 3,570,575 853,698 255,306 7,736 4,176,704
Leased Transp. Equip. & Plant 52,437 18,188 0 0 70,624
Other tangible assets 1,181,834 404,407 123,327 (10,898) 1,452,016
Financial assets 80,436 0 80,436 0 0
Other investments 80,436 0 80,436 0 0

Total 5,719,200 1,480,932 0 0 515,712 (5,122) 6,679,299

NOTE 6 INVENTORIES AND WORK IN PROGRESS

Breakdown by type
In euro 31/12/2005 31/12/2004

Raw materials 6,684,251 3,834,789
Consumables 81,815 79,497
Finished and semi-finished goods 17,208,186 9,672,826

Total (1) 23,974,253 13,587,112

(1) including a Pure World contribution of € 6,964,799

NOTE 7 TRADE AND OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

In euro 31/12/2005 31/12/2004

Trade receivables 11,203,200 5,782,486
Supplier receivables 18,990 75,945
Advances to employees 67,408 68,611
VAT receivables 590,930 1,094,443
Accrued receivables 220,940 12,516
Prepaid expenses (1) 480,369 208,384
Gross total 12,581,838 7,242,386
Amortizations (245,203) (111,912)

Net total 12,336,635 7,130,473
(1) Prepaid expenses

In euro 31/12/2005 31/12/2004

Pre-paid insurance 203,210 127,149
Pre-paid trade fair/exhibition costs 82,675 65,439
Outsourcing and leasing 48,520 14,558
Taxes 121,891 0
Loan interest 24,072 0

Total 480,369 208,385



NOTE 8 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

In euro 31 /12/2005 31/12/2004

S.C.I. Les Broquetons tax receivable 4,034 2,935
Naturex S.A tax receivable 61,382 67,395

Total 65,416 70,330

NOTE 9 CASH

Detail 31/12/2005 31/12/2004

Cash 4,416,893 2,227,813
Cash equivalent 0 0

Total 4,416,893 2,227,813

NOTE 10 DEFERRED TAX

In euro 31/12/05 31/12/04

Deferred tax in respect of Naturex Inc acquisition cost 772,599
Deferred tax on consolidation operation 2,064

Total 774,663 0

NOTE 11 PROVISIONS 

Type Open. Bal. Charges Write-back Write-back Impact Change Exch.rate/ Other Balance
(in euro) 01/01/2005 (provision (provision of method in scope opening 31/12/2005

used) not used) change Exch. rate/
flows

Tax provision 6,195 (3,869) (415) 1,911
Other 3,678 12,885 (3,565) 12,998

Total provisions 9,873 12,885 0 (7,434) 0 0 (415) 0 14,909

NOTE 12 FINANCIAL DEBT

12.1 Financial debt of more than a year

Type (in euro) Total 2-5 years more than 5 years

Naturex borrowings 27,872,738 23,003,373 4,869,365
Maroc Extraction borrowings 0 0 0
SCI Les Broquetons borrowings 435,909 286,029 149,880
Naturex Inc borrowings 1,352,883 1,352,883 0
Total financial debt of more than a year as at 31/12/2005 29,661,530 24,642,285 5,019,245
Total financial debt of more than a year as at 31/12/2004 8,475,670 7,498,210 977,460

12.2 Other financial liabilities

Type (in euro) 31/12/2005 31/12/2004

Naturex borrowings 6,013,614 2,203,704
Maroc Extraction borrowings 0 168,342
SCI Les Broquetons borrowings 62,817 58,371
Naturex Inc borrowings 425,711 0
Lease finance debts 46,581 16,460
Outstanding accrued interest 77,169 18,373
Partners’ accounts 19,914 26,301

Total other financial liabilities 6,645,806 2,491,551
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12.3 Change in borrowings and financial debt

Of more than a year
Items (in euro) 31/12/2004 New Repaid 31/12/2005

Borrowings 8,475,670 26,341,371 5,155,511 29,661,530

Total 8,475 670 26,341,371 5,155,511 29,661,530

Of less than a year
Items (in euro) 31/12/2004 New Repaid 31/12/2005

Borrowings 2,465,251 5,373,271 1,212,630 6,625,892
Partner accounts 26,301 6,387 19,914

Total 2,491,552 5,373,271 1,219,017 6,645,806

Bank loans 3,665,795 226,720 3,892,515

12.4 Breakdown of financial debt by currency expressed in euro

Type Total € US$ DIRHAM

Naturex borrowings 33,886,353 14,813,707 19,072,646
Maroc Extraction borrowings 0
SCI Les Broquetons borrowings 498,726 498,726
Naturex Inc borrowings 1,778,594 1,778,594
Leasing loans 46,581 2,743 43,838
Outstanding accrued interest 77,169 77,169
Bank loans 3,892,515 3,723,443 169,071
Partners’ accounts 19,914 19,721 193

Total 40,199,850 19,135,509 21,020,311 44,031

Total (as %) 47.60% 52.29% 0.11%

12.5 Breakdown of borrowings at fixed and variable rates

Type (in euro) Total Fixed rate Variable rate

Naturex borrowings 33,966,264 6,163,256 27,803,008
Maroc Extraction borrowings 43,838 43,838
SCI Les Broquetons borrowings 498,726 91,927 406,799
Naturex Inc borrowings 1,778,594 1,292,030 486,564

Total 36,287,423 7,591,051 28,696,372

Total (as %) 20.92% 79.08%

NOTE 13 SECTOR INFORMATION

First level: geographical zone

13.1 Turnover by subsidiary

Geographical breakdown France Morocco USA Total

31/12/2005 16,201,428 2,391 33,943,067 50,146,886
31/12/2004 15,301,510 3,354 19,500,106 34,804,970

13.2 Turnover - France/Export 

In euro Naturex Maroc Extraction Naturex Inc. Consolidated

France 4,778,830 4,778,830
Outside France 11,422,598 2,391 33,943,067 45,368,056
Production sold 16,201,428 2,391 33,943,067 50,146,886
Carriage 158,444 228,477 386,921

Total 16,359,872 2,391 34,171,544 50,533,806



13.3 Operating income

Group companies (in euro) 31/12/2005 31/12/2004

Naturex 427,650 992,604
SCI 50,283 53,737
Maroc Extraction 615,502 1,249,609
Naturex Inc. 5,449,711 2,386,054

Operating income 6,543,145 4,682,004

Naturex has received a commitment of € 1,846,488 from Coface guaranteeing it against the political risk in Morocco.

In addition, Naturex has provided the Moroccan Customs with a guarantee of € 340,674.

13.4 Inventories

Geographical breakdown France Morocco USA Total

Raw materials 1,121,521 1,660,331 3,902,399 6,684,251
Consumables 19,137 31,252 31,426 81,815
Finished and semi-finished goods 758,035 10,547,334 5,902,818 17,208,186

Total 1,898,693 12,238,917 9,836,643 23,974,253

13.5 Gross assets

Asset categories France Morocco USA Amount 
(in euro) 31/12/2005

Goodwill 47,586 33,562 22,610,420 28,476,487
Intangible 125,334 8,713 65,044 199,091
Software - brands 125,334 8,713 65,044 199,091
Tangible 9,862,987 8,869,308 17,623,924 36,356,218
Land 263,263 263,263
Building on own land 2,239,727 2,239,727
Building on leasehold land 71,046 1,679,160 0 1,750,206
Plant and equipment 2,959,537 5,987,667 12,192,191 21,139,395
Leased Transp. Equip. & Plant 87,085 53,679 140,764
Other tangible assets 3,610,850 1,148,802 5,431,733 10,191,384
Work in progress 631,480 0 631,480
Financial 68,286 12,422 1,462,681 1,543,389
Securities 1,279,986 1,279,986
Loans 89,411 89,411
Deposits and guarantees 68,286 12,422 93,284 173,991

Total 10,104,193 8,924,005 41,762,069 66,575,185

13.6 Allocations for the financial year

Asset categories France Morocco USA Amount 
(in euro) 31/12/2005

Intangible 30,456 1,374 14,100 45,931
Software - brands 30,456 1,374 14,100 45,931
Tangible 785,012 714,230 697,167 2,196,409
Building on own land 54,840 12,005 66,845
Building on leasehold land 7,105 83,958 478 91,541
Plant and equipment 332,040 550,741 463,141 1,345,922
Leased Transp. Equip. & Plant 11,791 11,768 23,559
Other tangible assets 379,237 67,763 221,543 668,543
Financial 0 0 0 0
Other investments 0

Total 815,468 715,604 711,267 2,242,340
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13.7 Acquisitions and asset contribution
Asset categories France Morocco USA Amount
(in euro) 31/12/2005

Goodwill 20,724,137 20,724,137
Intangible 2,655 2,454 8,793 13,902
Software - brands 2,655 2,454 8,793 13,902
Tangible 2,086,859 289,973 17,803,520 20,180,353
Land 0
Building on own land 693,512 693,512
Building on leasehold land 0
Plant and equipment 544,726 181,209 11,768,174 12,494,109
Leased Transp. Equip. & Plant 53,679 53,679
Other tangible assets 1,011,068 53,295 4,935,547 5,999,910
Work in progress 531,065 1,790 406,288 939,143
Financial 41,406 537 1,444,622 1,486,565
Securities 1,279,986 1,279,986
Loans 89,411 89,411
Deposits and guarantees 41,406 537 75,224 117,167

Total 2,130,920 292,964 39,981,072 42,404,957

13.8 Other operating income

Other income (in euro) France Morocco USA Consolidated total

Current 460,867 14,357 394,479 869,702
Insurance repayment 1,407,688 1,407,688

Total 460,867 14,357 1,802,166 2,277,389

Insurance revenue booked in the United States relates to compensation in respect of the fire at Brucia in February. Other current
income essentially consists of rebilled expenses (€ 204,000) and rebilled transport costs (€ 387,000).

13.9 Assets and liabilities by geographical sectors

(in euro) France Morocco USA Total

Total assets 20,150,786 7,846,196 59,939,127 87,936,108

Total liabilities 74,487,077 3,795,594 9,653,437 87,936,108

Second level: sector of activity

13.10 Turnover per activity

Turnover (in euro) 31/12/2005

Raw materials for the aromatic industry 4,937,871
Cosmetic and food ingredients 13,861,889
Custom extraction 2,115,298
Nutraceutical 29,095,379
Miscellaneous 136,449

Total 50,146,886

13.11 Breakdown of assets by sector of activity

Assets (in euro) 31/12/2005

Raw materials for the aromatic industry 8,658,906
Cosmetic and food ingredients 24,307,802
Custom extraction 3,709,324
Nutraceutical 51,020,803
Miscellaneous 239,274

Total 87,936,108

As all tools are multi-purpose, this breakdown has been calculated based on the percentage of turnover per activity defined
in item 13.10.



13.12 Acquisitions of assets by sector of activity

Acquisitions (in euro) 31/12/2005

Raw materials for the aromatic industry 4,175,538
Cosmetic and food ingredients 11,721,821
Custom extraction 1,788,727
Nutraceutical 24,603,488
Miscellaneous 115,384

Total 42,404,957

As all tools are multi-purpose, this breakdown has been calculated based on the percentage of turnover per activity defined in
item 13.10.

13.13 Breakdown of turnover by geographical location of customers

Turnover (in euro) 31/12/2005

France 4,777,728
European Union excluding France 10,396,683
Asia/Oceania 1,578,752
USA/Canada 32,442,803
Rest of the world 950,920

Total 50,146,886

NOTE 14 PAYROLL EXPENSES

14.1 Headcount 
Naturex’s payroll expenses increased by around 63% on financial year 2004. The average headcount of 349 (vs. 235 at 31/12/04)
breaks down as follows:
■ Naturex: 123
■ Naturex Inc.: 144
■ Maroc Extraction: 82

14.2 Stock options
The value of options has been calculated using the Black and Scholes valuation model and entered in accordance with IFRS 2
under payroll expenses in the amount of € 72,533. The fair value of the benefits granted in respect of the plan approved by the
Board of Directors on May 6, 2005 amounts to € 35,300. The expense corresponding to this benefit has been spread over the
three-year allocation period, in the same way as previous allocations. 

The different stock option plans are summarized in the following table:

Plan No. 1 Plan No. 2 Plan No. 3 Plan No. 4 Plan No. 5 Plan No. 6 Plan No. 7 Plan No. 8

Date of AGM 19/03/2001 19/03/2001 19/03/2001 19/03/2001 19/03/2001 19/03/2001 19/03/2001 19/03/2001
Date of Board meeting 02/01/2001 04/07/2001 21/12/2001 21/12/2001 30/01/2003 06/01/2004 06/01/2004 06/05/2005
Type of option Purchase Purchase Purchase Subscription Subscription PurchaseSubscription Subscription
Number of options remaining at 31/12/2004 allocated to:
Executive officers 0 602 198 7,513 698 1,779 17,500 0
Employees 594 0 0 892 1,156 0 1,948 0
(with 10 employees having 
received the largest allocations) 594 892 1,156 1,948 0
Start date for exercise of options 02/01/2004 04/07/2004 21/12/2004 21/12/2004 30/01/2006 06/01/2007 06/01/2007 06/05/2008
Expiry date 02/01/2006 04/07/2006 21/12/2006 21/12/2006 30/01/2008 06/01/2009 06/01/2009 06/05/2010
Purchase or subscription price in euro 11.61 11.34 11.86 11.86 12.83 12.72 12.72 27.54
Number of shares subscribed at 31/12/05 594 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Subscription or purchase options
cancelled during the financial year 0 0 0 0 0 0 132 0
Remaining subscription or purchase options 0 602 198 8,405 1,854 1,779 19,316 24,350
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NOTE 15 EXTERNAL EXPENSES AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Amount
Headings (in euro) 31/12/2005 31/12/2004

Non-immobilized purchases 5,908,664 3,536,017
Leasing 679,769 424,019
Maintenance 350,927 42,453
Insurance 721,963 772,861
Documentation 23,887 18,768
Fees 1,347,793 894,433
Advertising, trade fairs, exhibitions 396,086 361,614
Transport costs 2,427,658 2,106,728
Travel 1,367,526 1,026,062
Telecommunications 318,577 229,965
Other expenses 162,589 132,263

Total 13,705,439 9,545,183

■ Development costs are entered as an expense in the amount of approximately € 1.2M. These costs do not satisfy the criteria
for assets stipulated in IAS 38, notably as regards potential commercial openings.

NOTE 16 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 
Amount

Description (in euro) 31/12/2005 31/12/2004

Other expenses 48,961 77,148
Provisions 156,470 46,290
Write-backs and transferred expenses (31,391)
Non-recurring expenses 5,232 19,652
NAV of assets sold 286,174

Total 496,837 111,699

NOTE 17 FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

17.1 Cost of net financial debt

In euro 31/12/2005 31/12/2004

Interest and related expenses (1,189,955) (549,679)
Financial income 128,629 50,329

Net financial debt (1,061,326) (499,350)

17.2 Other financial income and expenses

In euro 31/12/2005 31/12/2004

Exchange rate losses 1,962,512 1,137,163
Exchange rate gains 2,160,828 1,249,805

Other financial income and expenses 198,316 112,642

NOTE 18 INCOME TAX

18.1 Breakdown of deferred taxes/taxes payable in the income statement (in euro)

Tax payable 743,173
Deferred tax 930,798

Total tax 1,673,971
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18.2 Reconciliation of tax expense and theoretical tax expense

Income of fully consolidated companies 4,006,163
Tax booked 1,673,971
Consolidated income before tax 5,680,134
Theoretical tax: 33.33% + 1.5% contribution 1,921,778
Impact of US tax rate (1) (140,532)
Impact of Moroccan tax rate (118,109)
Impact of non-deductible expenses 5,827
- Tax on company cars 2,950
- Depreciation of private vehicles 503
- Fines 1,692
- Private vehicle rentals 682
Impact of deferred tax 5,007
Tax booked 1,673,971

(1) including a partial tax loss carryforward of € 146,281 originating from the US subsidiary: the carryforward has not been activated because of the uncertainty over the amount still

to be charged

18.3 Breakdown of booked deferred tax assets and liabilities

Net (in euro) Assets Liabilities Net liabilities 

Temporary differences 65,416 774,663 709,247

18.4 Criteria for booking deferred taxes and impact of changes in the income statement
The following were booked at December 31, 2005: SCI deferred tax in the amount of € -1,388; Naturex SA deferred tax in the
amount of € 156,485; the recovery of a Naturex receivable in respect of deferred tax in 2004 in the amount of € 16,269; 2005
organic deferred tax in the amount of € -15,231; Maroc Extraction deferred tax in the amount of € 2,064 and the tax on the
activation of acquisition costs in respect of Pure World in the USA in the amount of € 772,599. Total deferred tax: € 930,798.

NOTE 19 DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

31/12/2005 31/12/2004

Options following S2P share with warrants issue of 16/12/02 79,000
Options allocated to employees on 21/12/01 8,405 10,186
Options allocated to employees on 30/01/03 1,854 2,916
Options allocated to employees on 06/01/04 19,448 19,778
Options allocated to employees on 06/05/05 24,548
Share with warrants issue/capital increase of 12/01/05 204,590
Total options granted 258,845 111, 880
Number of shares making up the capital 2,661,126 2,164,518
Earnings (Group share) in euro 3,950,707 2,756,040
Diluted earnings per share in euro 1.3530 1.2107
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12. Statutory Auditors’ Report 
on the consolidated financial statements  

To the shareholders,

Following our appointment as statutory auditors by your Annual General
Meeting, we have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements
of Naturex SA for the year ended December 31, 2005.

The consolidated financial statements have been approved by the Board of
Directors. Our role is to express an opinion on these financial statements based
on our audit. These financial statements have been prepared for the first time 
in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union. They include
comparative information restated in accordance with the same standards 
in respect of financial year 2004.

1 Opinion on the consolidated financial statements
We conducted our audit in accordance with professional standards applicable 
in France. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by the management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statements’ presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view 
of the assets and liabilities and of the financial position of the Group and of the
results of its operations for the year in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the
European Union.

2 Justification of our assessments
In accordance with the provisions of Article L. 823-9 of the French Commercial
Code relating to the justification of our assessments, we bring your attention 
to the following matters:

At each year-end, the company systematically carries out a goodwill impairment
test and also assesses whether there is any evidence of a long-term loss in value
of assets, using the methods described in note 3 to the financial statements. 
We have examined the methods for implementing the impairment test as well 
as the cash flow forecasts and assumptions used, and we have verified that note
3 provides the appropriate information.

Note 3 specifies the methods used to value inventories. As part of our
assessment of the accounting principles used by your company, we have verified
the appropriate nature of these methods and the information provided in the
notes to the financial statements.

These assessments were made in the context of our audit of the consolidated
financial statements taken as a whole, and therefore contributed to the opinion
we formed which is expressed in the first part of this report.

3 Specific verification
In accordance with professional standards applicable in France, we have also
verified the information given in the Group’s management report. We have 
no matters to report as to its fair presentation and its consistency with the
consolidated financial statements.

Avignon and les Angles, May 5, 2006

Statutory Auditors
KPMG S.A. Cabinet Jean-Marie Baudouin
Jean Gatinaud Jean-Marie Baudouin
Luc Rebuffo
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13. Statutory Auditors Report
on the pro-forma statements

Mr. Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,

In our capacity as statutory auditors and pursuant to EU regulation
No.809/2004, we have prepared this report on Naturex SA’s pro-forma
statements for financial year 2005 included in note 3, chapter II of its reference
document dated May 22, 2006.

This pro-forma information has been prepared for the sole purpose of
illustrating the effect that the acquisition in July 2005 of US company Pure
World could have had on Naturex SA’s balance sheet and income statement 
at December 31, 2005 had the operation had taken place on January 1, 2005. 
By its very nature, this information describes a hypothetical situation and is not
necessarily representative of the financial situation or performances that could
have been observed had the operation or event occurred prior to its effective
date of completion.

This pro-forma information has been prepared under your responsibility
pursuant to the provisions of EU regulation No.809/2004 (and the
recommendations of the CESR) relating to pro-forma information.

Under the terms of appendix II point 7 of EU regulation No.809/2004, we are
required to provide an opinion as to whether the pro-forma information 
has been properly prepared, based on our audit.

We carried out our audit on the basis of the professional standards applicable 
in France. This audit, which includes no examination of the financial
information underlying the preparation of the pro-forma information, consisted
primarily in verifying that the basis on which the pro-forma information was
prepared accurately reflects the source documents, in examining the evidence
supporting the pro-forma restatements, and meeting with the Management 
of Naturex SA in order to obtain the information and explanations that we
deemed necessary.

In our opinion:
The pro-forma information has been properly prepared on the basis indicated.

This basis complies with the issuer’s accounting methods.

This report is issued for the sole purpose of making it available to the public 
in France and in those European Union countries in which the reference
document approved by French Securities Regulator (AMF) is made available. 
It may not be used in another context.

Avignon and les Angles, May 22, 2006

Statutory Auditors
KPMG S.A. Cabinet Jean-Marie Baudouin
Jean Gatinaud Jean-Marie Baudouin
Luc Rebuffo
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14. Balance sheet at December 31, 2005 (in euro)

ASSETS

In euro Notes Gross Amortization, Dec. 31, 2005 Dec. 31, 2004 
depreciation and Net Net

provisions

Fixed assets

Intangible fixed assets 2 125,334 82,520 42,814 70,615
Tangible fixed assets 2 6,792,471 2,958,822 3,833,649 2,955,191
Financial assets 3 54,849,171 54,849,171 21,660,441
Total fixed assets 61,766,976 3,041,342 58,725,634 24,686,248

Inventories and work in progress 4 9,883,939 9,883,939 7,940,654
Accounts receivable 5 5,133,179 105,399 5,027,780 3,911,054
Various receivables 5 1,130,751 1,130,751 1,501,729
Cash 6 854,582 854,582 587,050
Total current assets 17,002,451 105,399 16,897,052 13,940,489

Accruals and equivalent 7 138,414 138,414 100,306
Translation differences (assets) 40,753 40,753 121,495

Total assets 78,948,594 3,146,741 75,801,854 38,848,538

LIABILITIES

In euro Notes Dec. 31, 2005 Dec. 31, 2004

Shareholders’ equity 8
Capital 3,991,689 3,246,777
Contribution, merger, issue premiums 25,030,836 14,405,324
Legal reserves 386,907 324,678
Statutory reserves 1,708,495 1,232,818
Regulatory reserves 28,272 28,272
Retained earnings 317 0
Income for the financial year 644,232 795,745
Total shareholders’ equity 31,790,748 20,033,615

Provisions for risks and expenses 9 53,750 125,173

Debt
Borrowings and financial debt 10 33,962,970 10,072,843
Current bank loans 3,892,514 3,616,531
Affiliates’ current accounts 116,548 208,573
Accounts payable 4,840,917 3,803,309
Other debt 11 1,133,251 972,976
Translation differences (liabilities) 11,157 15,517
Total debt 43,957,356 18,689,751

Total liabilities 75,801,854 38,848,538



15. Income statement at December 31, 2005 (in euro)
In euro Notes Dec. 31, 2005 Dec. 31, 2004

Production sold 28,136,599 25,603,647
Carriage invoiced 158,444 143,836
Net turnover 12 28,295,043 25,747,483
Inventories 932,597 350,925
Immobilized production 0 0
Other operating income 1,277,657 885,244
Total operating income 30,505,297 26,983,652

Purchases 16,551,648 15,346,792
Other external expenses 7,480,766 6,294,896
Taxes 417,357 310,508
Payroll costs 3,337,378 2,598,583
Fringe benefits 1,387,889 931,410
Amortization/depreciation 
allowances and provisions 856,054 584,630
Other expenses 17,513 19,877
Total operating expenses 30,048,605 26,086,696

Operating income 456,692 896,956

Financial income 2,148,997 1,146,594
Financial expenses 1,554,596 824,920
Net financial items 594,401 321,674

Recurrent income 1,051,093 1,218,630

Non-recurring income 29,538,249 90,436
Non-recurring expenses 29,540,993 94,378
Net non-recurring items (2,744) (3,942)

Income tax 404,117 418,943
Net income 644,232 795,745

Earnings per share 0.2421 0.3676
Diluted earnings per share 0.2373 0.3500
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16. Notes to the parent company financial
statements

NOTE 1 GENERAL INFORMATION

1.1 Highlights 
Yearly turnover for Naturex’s parent company grew 9.9% over 2005, confirming
the anticipated growth forecasts.  

Net income after tax amounted to € 644,232.

At beginning of January 2005, Naturex embarked on a € 10.66M capital
increase (issue expenses € 0.44M) by issuing 414,865 shares with warrants
with a par value of € 25.70. Two warrants entitle holders to subscribe to a new
share in the company at an issue price of € 34. At December 31, 2005, 2,743
warrants had been converted.

The capital increase was a huge success and enabled Naturex to launch a bid on
US company Pure World Inc. The operation resulted in the acquisition of 100%
of Pure World’s capital in July for a total of US$ 37.1M including acquisition
expenses.

Pure World Inc., whose head office is in South Hackensack, New Jersey,
absorbed Naturex Inc. at the end of November 2005, becoming a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Naturex SA. Pure World Inc. devises, produces and markets plant
extracts that are used by the cosmetic, food-processing, flavorings,
pharmaceutical and nutraceutical industries to manufacture consumer end
products.

Pure World Inc. generated turnover of US$ 31.3M in financial year 2005,
including US$ 14.6M since July 1, 2005, the date of its consolidation in
Naturex’s accounts.

Naturex also carried out, through the absorption of the intercompany loan
account, a capital increase in respect of Naturex Inc. (wholly-owned subsidiary
before the merger) in the amount of € 5,451,602 and a capital increase 
in respect of Maroc Extraction (now a 89.29%-owned subsidiary) in the amount
of € 1,973,562.

Finally, Messrs. Jacques Dikansky and Thierry Lambert have sold the 7,900
shares with warrants resulting from the merger between Naturex and S2P to the
Banque de Vizille. These warrants, entitling the holder to subscribe to 79,000
Naturex shares, were exercised in December 2005.

1.2 Principles and methods
The annual financial statements are drawn up and presented in accordance with
existing French regulations, resulting from the decrees of the French
Accounting Regulations Committee (CRC). 

Regulations CRC 2004-06 of November 23, 2004 relating to the definition,
recording and valuation of assets, and CRC 2002-10 of February 12, 2002
relating to the amortization and depreciation of assets apply as from this
financial year. The application of these two new regulations has no impact 
on the results and shareholders equity in Naturex SA’s opening balance sheet.

Said changes in the regulations imply a change in accounting methods and the
company has not applied any of the waivers provided for by the texts.

Naturex SA made no changes to its accounting methods during financial year
2005.
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NOTE 2 TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

2.1 Fixed assets – movements during the financial year

Fixed assets Gross value Acquisitions or Reductions as a Gross value of
(in euro) fixed assets at start transfers fromone result of disposals fixed assets at end

of financial year item to another or transfers to third of financial year
parties

Start-up, R&D costs
Total I

Other intangible fixed
asset items (brands, patents, software)
Total II 122,679  2,655  125,334  

Installations générales, agencements 
et aménagements des constructions 71,046  71,046  

Installations techniques,
matériels et outillage industriel 2,529,685  544,726  114,874  2,959,537  

General installations,
miscellaneous fixtures & fittings 2,281,355  819,529  132,157  2,968,726  
Transport equipment 72,975  83,495  9,149  147,321  
IT and office equipment, furniture 332,613  93,324  5,288  420,648  
Fixed assets in progress 176,223  531,065  482,096  225,192  
Total III 5,463,896  2,072,139  743,565  6,792,471  

Overall total I + II + III 5,586,576  2,074,794  743,565  6,917,805  

2.2 Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 

Type Method Period

Software Straight-line 3 years
Building on leasehold land Straight-line 10 years
Plant and equipment Straight-line 7 years
Laboratory equipment Straight-line 5 years
General installations Straight-line 10  years
Transport equipment Straight-line 4 years
IT & office equipment Straight-line 4 and 5 years
Furniture Straight-line 7 years

2.3 Fixed assets – Depreciation/amortization during the financial year

Amortizable/depreciable fixed Amortization/ Increases: Reductions: Amortization/
(in euro) depreciation allowances amortization/ depreciation

amount at start of during the depreciation of amount at end of
financial year financial year items removed financial year

from assets

Start-up, R&D costs
Total I

Other intangible fixed asset items
(brands, patents, software)
Total II 52,064  30,456  82,520  

General installations, building  
fixtures & fittings 50,236  7,105  57,340  

Technical installations, industrial 
plant & equipment 1 382,790  332,040  114,874  1,599,956  

General installations,
miscellaneous fixtures & fittings 875,545  269,635  132,157  1,013,024  
Transport equipment 48,420  23,150  5,916  65,654  
IT and office equipment, furniture 151,714  75,387  4,253  222,848  
Total III 2,508,705  707,317  257,200  2,958,822  

Overall total I + II + III 2,560,769  737,773  257,200  3,041,342  
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2.4 Leased assets 
These assets are recorded under financial leasing.

Lease commitments
Balance sheet items (in euro) Amount paid Amount payable

Financial year Total 1 year 2-5 years More than Total Option
5 years

Transport equipment 1,308.84 15,414.12 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 152.45
Laboratory equipment 11,167.98 71,670.44 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 716.83

NOTE 3 FINANCIAL ASSETS

3.1 Movements during the financial year

Fixed assets Gross value of Acquisitions or Reductions as a Gross value
(In euro) fixed assets at start transfers from one result of disposals fixed assets at end

of financial year item to another or transfers to third of financial year
parties

Other holdings 15,972,151 48,888,871 29,531,724 35,329,299
Related receivables 5,660,242 20,198,624 6,407,280 19,451,586
Total 21,632,393 69,087,496 35,939,003 54,780,885

Overall total 7,218,969 71,162,290 36,682,568 61,698,690

Deposits and guarantees 28,049 41,406 1,169 68,286

Total financial fixed assets 21,660,442 69,128,902 35,940,172 54,849,171

3.2 Valuation of equity securities – Depreciation

Equity securities are recorded at their acquisition cost.
A provision for depreciation is made when their useful value falls below their acquisition cost.
The useful value is assessed in proportion to the company’s net assets, profitability prospects and the Group’s development plans.

3.3 Table of subsidiaries and holdings

In euro Naturex Inc. USA Maroc Extraction SCI Les Broquetons Total

Securities account value (gross) 29,531,724 5,217,330 580,245 35,329,299  
Securities account value (net) 29,531,724 5,217,330 580,245 35,329,299  
Related receivables 19,072,646 378,941 19,451,586  
Share of capital 100% 89% 100%
Capital 25,006,358 2,206,275 495,000 27,707,632  
Reserves,issue premium
and retained earnings 2,533,930 5,944,321 (24,429) 8,453,822  
Income (188,424) 507,160 21,044 339,780  
Turnover 35,549,416 6,242,541 65,905 41,857,861  
Dividends received
Non-reimbursed loans 
and advances
Guarantees given 340,674 340,674  

Comments US$ at the closing Moroccan dirham
rate and average at the closing rate
rate for turnover and average rate for

turnover €

NOTE 4 INVENTORIES AND WORK IN PROGRESS

4.1 Inventories – Work in progress – Depreciation
Inventories of materials and other supplies are valued at purchase cost using the FIFO (first-in first-out) method.
Finished or semi-finished goods are valued using the FIFO method at the cost price which deducts all production costs from 
the purchase price:
■ raw materials;
■ import expenses;
■ outsourcing;
■ water, gas, electricity;
■ adjuvants,
■ packaging;
■ expensed salaries;
■ salaires chargés,
■ depreciation.

A provision for depreciation is booked when the purchase cost or cost price falls below the market price.
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4.2 Breakdown by type of inventories

In euro 31/12/05 31/12/04

Raw materials 3,949,695 2,866,208
Miscellaneous & packaging 31,426 104,225
Finished and semi-finished goods 5,902,818 4,970,221

Total 9,883,939 7,940,654

NOTE 5 RECEIVABLES

5.1 Valuation and depreciation of receivables
Receivables are valued at their nominal value.

A provision for depreciation is made when there is a collection risk (even partial) on receivables.

5.2 Breakdown of Other receivables (in euro)

Prepayments on orders 3,028
Trade receivables 297
Advances to employees 13,268
State, income tax 178,359
VAT receivables 339,744
Current account advance 480,204
Accrued receivables 15,150

Total 1,030,050

All receivables relating to current assets are payable within one year.  Foreign currency trade receivables total € 2,204,800,
including € 1,572,149.

NOTE 6 INVESTMENT SECURITIES

6.1 Own shares
The company holds 2,579 of its own shares, or 0.01% of its share capital, so as to allow certain employees to exercise their stock
options.

Balance sheet value: € 44,802.

6.2 Marketable securities
At December 31, 2005, Naturex had no marketable securities.

NOTE 7 PREPAID EXPENSES

7.1 Prepaid expenses (in euro)

IT maintenance contract 8,176
Leasing 11,625
Risk study fees 2,250
Prepaid expenses for trade fairs, exhibitions 82,675
Prepaid insurance policies 33,688

Total 138,414

NOTE 8 SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

The capital is divided into 2,661,126 fully paid-up shares with a par value of € 1.50.

Change in shareholders’ equity at Dec. 31, 2005 (in euro)
Items Opening amount increases (1) Reductions (2) Closing amount

Capital 3 ,46,777  744,912  3,991,689  
Issue premium 14,054,315  11,060,533  435,021  24,679,827  
Merger premium 351,009  351,009  
Legal reserves 324,677  62,230  386,907  
Unavailable reserves 28,272  28,272  
Optional reserves 1,232,818  475,677  1,708,495  
Retained earnings 317  317  
2004 income (3) 795,745  795,745  
2005 income 644,232  644,232

Total 20,033,613  12,987,901  1,230,766  31,790,748  

(1) Issue premium includes the increase of € 10,913,350 and € 147,182 
(2) Capital increase expenses deducted from the premium: € 435,021.
(3) Dividends paid: 795,745 - (62,230 + 475,677 + 317) = € 257,521.
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NOTE 9 PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND EXPENSES

Type Opening Allowances Writebacks Writebacks Impact Other Balance
(in euro) balance (provision (provision of change 31/12/05

01/01/05 used) not used) in method

Exchangerate losses 121,496 40,753 0 121,496 0 0 40,753
Stock options 3,678 12,885 0 3,565 0 0 12,998

Total 125,174 155,389 0 226,812 0 0 53,751

NOTE 10 FINANCIAL DEBT

Maturities schedule 

Type (in euro) Total 1 year 2 -5 years More htan
5 years

Borrowings 33,886,353 6,013,614 23,003,373 4,869,365
Outstanding accrued interest 76,617 76,617
Shareholder accounts 116,548 116,548
Bank loans 1,528,515 1,528,515
Financial notes 2,364,000 2,364,000

Total financial debt 37,972,032 10,099,293 23,003,373 4,869,365

NOTE 11  OTHER DEBT 

Other debt has a maturity of less than one year. Foreign currency trade payables total € 658,510, including € 117,396 of Group debt.

NOTE 12 TURNOVER

Turnover by geographical region.

In euro Export France Total

Netherlands 2,283,071 2,283,071
United States 11,130,312 11,130,312
Other countries 9,944,387 9,944,387

Exports 23,357,769 23,357,769

France 4,778,830 4,778,830
Production sold 23,357,769 4,778,830 28,136,599
Carriage invoiced 135,810 22,633 158,444

Turnover 23,493,579 4,801,463 28,295,043

NOTE 13 AVERAGE PAYROLL DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR

The average payroll for financial year 2005 was 123 employees.

At December 31, 2005, the company’s headcount stood at 129 employees broken down as follows:

Executives 32
Supervisors 15
Employees 32
Blue collar 50

Total 129
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NOTE 14 COMMITMENTS

14.1 Commitments given 

Business collateral (outstanding) 100,000
Outstanding discounted bills 153,688
Guarantees in favor of the Moroccan subsidiary 340,674
Various guarantees 7,622

Total commitments given 501,984

14.2 Other commitments given 

Retirement indemnity:
Retirement indemnity is insured with the company PREDICA.

14.3 Commitments received 

Commitment from COFACE to guarantee the political risk in Morocco: € 1,846,488.

Total commitments received: € 1,846,488.

NOTE 15 BREAKDOWN OF CAPITAL

Shareholders % stake

Jacques Dikansky 18.52%
Odyssée Venture 13.60%
FMR Corp et Fidelity International Limited 5.02%
Banque de Vizille 2.50%
Thierry Lambert 0.39%
Naturex 0.10%
Float 59.87%
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17. Statutory Auditors’ Report
on the parent company financial statements

17.1 GENERAL REPORT

To the shareholders,

In compliance with the assignment entrusted to us by your AGM, we hereby
report to you for the year ended December 31, 2005, on:
■ the audit of the accompanying financial statements of Naturex SA;
■ the justification of our assessments;
■ the specific verifications and disclosures required by law.

These financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the statements based on our audit.

1 Opinion on the financial statements
We conducted our audit in accordance with professional standards applicable 
in France. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
are free from material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by the management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides 
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets
and liabilities and of the financial position of the company at December 31,
2005 and of the results of its operations for the year then ended in accordance
with the accounting rules and principles applicable in France.

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw your attention to note 1.2 of the notes
to the financial statements that outlines the change in regulations that imply 
a change in the accounting method governing the definition, recording,
valuation, amortization and depreciation of assets.

2 Justification of our assessments
In accordance with the provisions of Article L. 823-9 of the French Commercial
Code relating to the justification of our assessments, we bring your attention 
to the following matters:
■ In our assessment of the accounting rules and principles applied by your
company, we checked the validity of the changes in accounting methods
mentioned above and the presentation of those changes.
■ Note 3.2 of Note 3 sets out the accounting rules and principles relating to the
valuation of equity securities. 
We checked the validity of these accounting methods and in particular the
information used to calculate “useful” values.

These assessments were made in the context of our audit of the financial
statements taken as a whole, and therefore contributed to the opinion expressed
in the first part of this report.

3 Specific verifications and information
We also performed the specific verifications required by law in accordance with
professional standards applicable in France.

We have no matters to report regarding the fair presentation and the conformity
with the financial statements of the information given in the Board of Directors’
management report and in the documents sent to shareholders with respect 
to the financial position and the financial statements.

In accordance with the law, we have verified that the various information
relating to shareholdings and controlling stakes and the identity of shareholders
has been communicated to you in the management report.

Avignon et les Angles, le 5 mai 2006
Statutory Auditors
KPMG S.A. Cabinet Jean-Marie Baudouin
Jean Gatinaud Jean-Marie Baudouin
Luc Rebuffo
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17.2 SPECIAL REPORT

To the shareholders,

In our capacity as the statutory auditors of your company, we hereby report to
you on those agreements with certain related parties of which we have been
advised.

Agreements concluded during the financial year
In accordance with Article L. 225-40 of the French Commercial Code, we have
been advised of the following contractual agreement which was authorized 
by your Board of Directors.

It is not our responsibility to seek out the possible existence of any other
agreements, but to report to you, on the basis of the information provided to us,
on the terms and conditions of the agreement of which we have been advised. 
It is not our role to comment as to whether it is beneficial or appropriate. 
It is your responsibility, under the terms of Article 92 of the Decree of March 23,
1967, to evaluate the benefits resulting from this agreement prior to approval.

Services contract in favor of the Maroc Extraction subsidiary.
Persons concerned 
Jacques Dikansky et Thierry Lambert

Type and purpose 
Your company has undertaken to provide Maroc Extraction, a subsidiary 
of Naturex SA, with the following services as from January 1, 2005:

1. IT: production and installation of financial and management software, staff
training in Morocco, remote maintenance of the company’s software and IT
developments according to requests from Maroc Extraction. 
2. Finance and administration: general management, administrative and
financial management, execution and follow-up, accounting control,
management organization and control and legal assistance with insurance
policies, litigation and legal proceedings. 
3. Procurement: development of new products, search for new suppliers and
product purchases.
4. R&D: research and development of new products; with the company
transferring its skills and expertise, manufacturing processes and technical
assistance to Maroc Extraction, and implementing, monitoring and performing
quality controls of the new manufacturing systems.

Terms and conditions  
Remuneration of the services that Naturex SA provides to Maroc Extraction
is set at 3% of the Moroccan subsidiary’s turnover (excluding tax).

Services invoiced to Maroc Extraction under this contract for the financial year
ended December 31, 2005 amounted to € 189,587.

An agreement approved during previous years remained valid during the
financial year.

Moreover, in accordance with the Decree of March 23, 1967, we were informed
that the following agreement, approved during previous years, continued to be
implemented during the last financial year.

Leasing of offices from SCI Les Broquetons
Type and purpose 
Leasing from SCI Les Broquetons of the premises in which Naturex SA carries
out its activities.

Terms and conditions
Your company paid a rent of € 131,721 for financial year 2005.
We carried out our audit in accordance with the professional standards
applicable in France.  These standards require that we perform the necessary
procedures to ensure that the information provided to us is consistent with the
documentation from which it has been extracted.

Avignon et les Angles, le 5 mai 2006
Statutory Auditors
KPMG S.A. Cabinet Jean-Marie Baudouin
Jean Gatinaud Jean-Marie Baudouin
Luc Rebuffo
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1. Information concerning the issuer 
Company name
Naturex

Registered head office 
ZAC Pôle technologique
Agroparc 
BP 1218
84911 Avignon Cedex 09 (France)

Date the company was constituted
January 16, 1992 for a period of 99 years unless extended or terminated in advance.

Legal form
Naturex is a French Société Anonyme (public limited company) with a Board 
of Directors (Law of July 24, 1966 and Decree of March 23, 1967) and registered
with the Avignon Trade and Companies Register.

Trade and Companies Register
The company is registered with the Avignon Trade and Companies Register
under No. B 384 093 563.

The company’s APE code is 246 E. This corresponds to the Chemical Industry
sector.

The company’s articles of association, financial statements and reports, as well
as the minutes of its General Meetings can be consulted at its head office.

Corporate purpose
The company’s purpose, in France and in all countries, is: 

■ the manufacture, marketing and wholesale/semi-wholesale and retail distribution
of all edible products in relation to the human and animal food trade and the
provision of services therein;

■ the investment in and management of securities in all companies in France
and abroad with related and/or complementary activities;

■ the manufacture and marketing of all extracts intended for the cosmetic,
dietetic and pharmaceutical industries and all related activities.

The company may carry out all operations which are compatible with this
purpose, that relate to it and contribute to its achievement.

Business year
Each business year lasts 12 months, starting on January 1 of each year and
ending on December 31.

Allocation and distribution of profits
The difference between the year’s income and expenses, after deduction for
depreciation/amortization and provisions, constitutes the profit or loss for the
financial year.

5% of net income for the year, less any previous losses, must be set aside by law
to form a legal reserve. This deduction ceases to be mandatory when the said
reserve reaches one-tenth of the share capital. If for any reason the legal reserve
falls below this level, further deductions must be made.

The distributable profit consists of the profit for the year minus previous losses
and the aforementioned deduction, plus profits carried forward.

Furthermore, the General Meeting can decide to distribute sums deducted from
the reserves which are available to it; in this case, the decision expressly
indicates the reserve items from which the deductions will be made. However,
dividends are deducted first from the distributable profit for the year.

Payment of dividends in shares
The General Meeting called to approve the accounts for the financial year has
the right to grant each shareholder the option between payment in cash, 
in dividend shares, or in advances on dividends for all or part of the dividend 
or advances on dividends to be distributed.
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General Meetings
The shareholder meetings are called and deliberate under the conditions laid down by law.

Every shareholder has the right, upon proof of identity, to take part in the General Meetings by attending them in person,
returning the voting slip by post or by appointing a proxy, subject to:

■ for holders of registered shares: registration in the company’s register;

■ for holders of bearer shares: their depositing at the premises mentioned in the notice of convocation, a certificate delivered 
by an authorized intermediary confirming the unavailability of their shares entered in an account up to the date of the 
General Meeting.

These formalities must be accomplished at least five days before the General Meeting.

The Board of Directors can reduce the above time limit by means of a general measure from which all shareholders benefit.

All shareholders of a particular category may participate in the special shareholders’ meetings for this category under the 
above-mentioned conditions.

Identifiable bearer shares
In accordance with Article 263-1 of the Law of July 24, 1966, the company can, at any time, go to EUROCLEAR to proceed with
identifiable bearer securities.

Share capital
The company’s share capital stands at € 3,991,689, divided into 2,661,126 fully paid-up shares with a par value of € 1.50.
The total number of voting rights stands at 3,163,703.

Change in Naturex’s capital over 5 years

Financial Type od operation Number Capital Issue premium Nominal Number Total
year of shares increase (total/per share) value of shares

issued

2001 Transformation of the capital into € 288,602 € 3,203,482.20 € 2,770,579.20 € 1.50 1,443,012 € 2,164,518
and cash capital increase  € 9.60/share
(EGM of March 19, 2001) 
Quotation of new shares May 2, 2001

2001 Second cash capital increase 721,506 € 8,658,072 € 7,575,813 € 1.50 2,164,518 € 3,246,777
(Board meeting of € 10.50/share
Nov. 4, 2001)

2002 Capital increase through the 800,200 € 1,200,300 € 1.50 2,964,718 € 4,447,077
absorption of the  
S.2.P.holding company 
(EGM of Dec. 16, 2002)

2002 Reduction of capital through 800,200 € 1,200,300 € 1.50 2,164,518 € 3,246,777
cancellation of own shares 
(EGM of Dec. 16, 2002)

2005 Capital increase(1) (Board 414,865 € 622,297.50 € 10,039,733 € 1.50 2,579,383 € 3,869,074.50
meeting of Jan. 6, 2005) € 24.20/share

2005 Capital increase through 2,743 € 4,114.50 € 89,147.50 € 1.50 2,582,126 € 3,873,189
share with warrants issue
(Board meeting of Jan. 6, 2005) € 32.50/share

2005 Registered capital increase 79,000 € 118,500 € 784,470
through share with warrants issue € 9.93/share € 1.50 2,661,126 € 3,991,689

(1) Operation note No.05-003 relating to a capital increase of 414,865 shares with warrants, with no pre-emptive rights and with a priority period.

Subscription options
At Dec. 31, 2005, 57,428 subscription options had been granted at various Board meetings, entitling holders to subscribe to new
company shares to be issued in respect of a capital increase in a nominal amount of € 86,142.

Other securities providing access to the capital
At Dec. 31, 2005, there were 409,379 share warrants exercisable until January 27, 2008 and giving rights to 204,689 Naturex
shares.

Pledge of pure registered shares
Mr. Jacques Dikansky had agreed a pledge of 4,000 S.2.P. shares in favor of Société Générale as a guarantee on a personal loan.
Naturex having absorbed its holding company, S.2.P., this pledge was subsequently converted into 40,000 Naturex shares.

Name of pure registered Beneficiary Pledge Pledge Condition Number of % of issue
shareholder start date expiry date for exercising issuer’s pledged

the pledge shares capital 
secured

Jacques Dikansky Société August August Repayment 40,000 0.02
Générale 19, 2002 19, 2007 of the loan

Total 40,000 0.02
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2. Breakdown of capital and voting rights
Shareholders Situation at Dec. 31, 2005 Situation at Dec. 31, 2004 Situation at Dec. 31, 2003 Situation at Dec. 31, 2002

Number % capital % voting Nombre % capital % voting Number % capital % voting Number % capital % voting 
of shares rights d'actions rights of shares rights of shares rights 

Executive shareholders:

Jacques Dikansky 407,645 15.32% 25.77% 407,645 15.80% 26.45% 407,645 18.83% 30.61% 407,845 18.84% 30.20%

Others 10,291 0.39% 0.65% 13,941 0.54% 0.88% 15,291 0.71% 1.16% 20,891 0.97% 1.54%

Total executives 417,936 15.71% 26.42% 421,586 16.34% 27.33% 422,936 19.54% 31.77% 428,736 19.81% 31.74%

Shares held jointly with executives:

SGD 85,250 3.20% 5.39% 85,250 3.31% 5.53% 85,250 3.94% 5.83% 85,250 3.94% 5.75%

Total joint shares 85,250 3.20% 5.39% 85,250 3.31% 5.53% 85,250 3.94% 5.83% 85,250 3.94% 5.75%

Partner shareholders groups:

Moussahama 0 0.00% 0.00% 119,430 4.63% 3.87% 119,430 5.52% 4.51% 119,430 5.52% 4.45%

Natexis Investissement 0 0.00% 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00% 175,400 8.10% 7.84%

Odyssée Venture 361,913 13.60% 11.44% 343,002 13.30% 11.12% 278,140 12.85% 10.51% 55,730 2.57% 2.07%

Fidelity International
Limited 133,589 5.02% 4.22% 0 0.00% 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%

Banque de Vizille 79,000 2.97% 2.50% 0 0.00% 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00% 0 0.00% 0.00%

Treasury 2,579 0.10% 0.08% 3,173 0.12% 0.00% 5,401 0.25% 0.00% 9,361 0.43% 0.00%

Float 1,580,859 59.41% 49.95%

Bearer shares 1,577,866 59.30% 49.87% 1,604,791 62.22% 52.02% 1,250,206 57.76% 47.21% 1,289,146 59.56% 48.04%

Registered shares 2,993 0.11% 0.09% 2,151 0.08% 0.13% 3,155 0.15% 0.17% 1,465 0.07% 0.11%

Total 2,661,126 100.00% 100.00% 2,579,383 100.00% 100.00% 2,164,518 100.00% 100.00% 2 164 518 100.00% 100.00%

Particular declarations
Allocation of dual voting rights
The Extraordinary General Meeting of March 19, 2001 decided to allocate dual voting rights to all fully paid-up shares registered
in the name of a single shareholder for at least two years. It also decided that, in the case of a capital increase via the
incorporation of reserves, profits or issue premiums, dual voting rights will be attached, as of their issue, to registered shares
allocated free of charge to shareholders in exchange for old shares with dual voting right.

Restrictions on dual voting rights
There are no restrictions regarding dual voting rights.

Shares held by employees
At December 31, 2005, Naturex employees held 594 shares under various stock option plans.

3. Global Pact and Quality policy 
Global Pact
Naturex joined the Global Pact in May 2003. Upon signing this pact (a United Nations’ initiative), signatory companies adhere
to, amongst other things, a set of 9 principles on human rights, labor and the environment that state that companies must:

1. Support and respect the protection of internationally proclaimed human rights.

2. Ensure that they are not party to any human rights’ violations.

3. Ensure respect for the freedom of association and the effective recognition of the right to collective bargaining.

4. Ensure the elimination of all forms of forced or mandatory labor.

5. Ensure the effective abolition of child labor. 

6. Ensure the elimination of discrimination in all areas of labor and employment.

7. Support a preventive approach regarding ecological challenges.

8. Take initiatives to promote greater environmental responsibility.

9. Encourage the growth and spread of environment-friendly technologies.

Naturex fully subscribes to these principles. The Group is careful to ensure respect for human rights and the right to work.  
The company has employee representatives at its Avignon and Casablanca sites and ensures compliance with legislation, which
also includes work safety.



Naturex undertakes to employ adult staff (see note to the management report)
both female and male staff while respecting the legislation, particularly as
regards shift work. Naturex’s workforce is made up of several nationalities and
employees of different origins even at a single site.

By the very nature of its activities, Naturex takes the measures necessary to
promote respect for the environment

Quality policy
Naturex has adopted a quality policy that focuses on continuous improvement
in order to secure maximum client satisfaction.

The three-pronged strategy focuses on:
■ improving competitiveness,
■ maintaining the growth momentum,
■ ensuring the reliability of existing systems.

The quality policy adopted by Naturex is designed to lead to ISO 9001v2000
certification, including compliance with the requirements of HACCP systems of
reference for the food market and CGMP for the nutraceutical market.

4. Legal structure
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5. Related party transactions 
Relations between different Group companies
How the Group operates
The Naturex Group is made up of Naturex SA and its three subsidiaries which
are spread over 4 distinct sites. 

■ Maroc Extraction: this site is the main production unit which also contributes
to the Group’s research and development activities. This subsidiary’s activity
includes plant extraction and almost exclusive marketing to the parent
company of finished and semi-finished products. Its geographical location
enables the Group to benefit from privileged access to many agricultural raw
materials and to considerably reduce logistics costs.

■ Naturex Inc.: this subsidiary, which has its head office in the Pure World offices,
markets all products in the range on the East coast of the United States 
and Canada. On January 3, 2002, the subsidiary acquired the assets of the
Californian company Brucia Plant Extracts. This acquisition means that 
the subsidiary is now present on both coasts of America. Brucia Plant Extracts 
(a division of Naturex Inc.) exclusively produces and sells nutraceutical products.

■ SCI Les Broquetons: this company owns the land and buildings in which
Naturex SA’s head office is located. Its only activity is the property management
of the land and buildings needed for Naturex SA’s activity.

Main annual flows in euro

S.C.I Les Maroc Naturex Inc.
Broquetons Extraction New-York

Raw material sales to Naturex 6,229,965
Purchases of equipment from Naturex 83,306

Purchases of raw materials and semi-finished  
products from Naturex 759,563
Purchases of finished products from Naturex 10,997,041
Re-invoicing of services by Naturex 189,588 204,504
Raw material sales to Naturex 923,349
Pure World loan invoiced to Naturex Inc. 504,814
Insurance and equipment invoicing 452,945

Industrial building lease 
invoiced to Naturex 131,721
Purchase of equipment from Naturex 337,896
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6. Stock market performance

Month Number Capital Average price High in euro Low in euro
of shares traded in euro in euro

2005
January 249,116 7,033.11 28.23 33.30 24.80
February 201,943 5,814.29 28.79 29.74 28.40
March 55,567 1,599.88 28.79 29.39 28.25
April 124,322 3,532.64 28.42 31.75 24.61
May 48,743 1,316.26 27.00 28.47 24.95
June 356,177 12,406.00 34.83 39.30 27.52
July 103,848 3,932.13 37.86 39.49 34.80
August 77,293 2,942.90 38.07 39.10 37.10
September 115,944 4,852.19 41.85 44.85 37.18
October 157,286 6,326.16 40.22 44.84 37.00
November 93,551 3,759.29 40.18 42.20 38.50
December 145,887 6,245.90 42.81 46.20 39.15

2006
January 85,668 4,001.06 46.70 47.80 45.40
February 65,627 3,010.79 45.88 48.00 42.50
March 187,742 8,874.86 47.27 53.90 43.72

7. Liquidity and liquidity provider contract
A liquidity and liquidity generating contract, that complies with the AEFI charter signed on November 8, 2001 between Naturex,
Société Générale and the stock market company SG Securities. Concluded for a period of 1 year and renewable by tacit agreement,
the contract provides for the following with regard to market making and liquidity:
By virtue of the mandate given to it, SG Securities undertakes to ensure a frequency of securities quotation and market liquidity in
accordance with the commitments set out in the updated rules governing the organization and functioning of the Nouveau Marché,
notably the commitments related to display conditions, specified in the liquidity generating contract signed with Euronext, i.e.:
■ € 5,000 on purchase and sale,
■ maximum variance between the bid price and the offer price of 5%.

Furthermore, Société Générale’s financial analysis department has undertaken to publish at least one annual financial study on
the company. The studies will be submitted to the company a few days before their distribution to Société Générale’s clients. The
SG financial analysis department retains complete freedom under all circumstances to express its opinion in these studies.
Naturex will be free to distribute these reports to its own contacts within a certain time limit (particularly for circulation to the press).

8. Allocation of stock options 
Plan No.1 Plan No.2 Plan No.3 Plan No.4 Plan No.5 Plan No.6 Plan No.7 Plan No.8

Date of Meeting 19/03/01 19/03/01 19/03/01 19/03/01 19/03/01 19/03/01 19/03/2001 19/03/01
Date of Board Meeting 02/01/01 04/07/01 21/12/01 21/12/01 30/01/03 06/01/04 06/01/04 06/05/05
Type of option Purchase Purchase Purchase Subscription Subscription Purchase Subscription Subscription

Number of options remaining at: 
Dec. 31, 2004 allocated to
Executive officers 0 602 198 7,513 698 1,779 17,500 0
Employees 594 0 0 892 1,156 0 1,948 0

(including 10 employees having  
received the largest allocations) 594 892 1,156 1,948 0
Star date for exercise of options 02/01/04 04/07/04 21/12/04 21/12/04 30/01/2006 06/01/07 06/01/07 06/05/08
Expiry date 02/01/06 04/07/06 21/12/06 21/12/06 30/01/08 06/01/09 06/01/09 06/05/10
Purchase or subscription price € 11.61  € 11.34 € 11.86 € 11,86 € 12.83 € 12.72 € 12.72 € 27.54
Number of subscribed shares at
Dec. 31, 2005 594 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Purchase or subscription 
options cancelled during financial year 0 0 0 0 0 0 132 0
Remaining purchase or subscription options 0 602 198 8,405 2,854 1,779 19,316 24,350
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9. Annual registration document
Naturex’s financial communications department is committed to publishing the
most transparent information possible. Institutional or individual shareholders,
client partners or suppliers should all be able to find an answer to any questions
and form their own opinion on the quality of the Naturex share.

Naturex makes the information documents required by the law available to the
public, in both French and English.  Moreover, they can be obtained on request
or accessed via the Group’s website. Said documentation notably includes:

■ the registration document filed with the AMF;
■ the shareholders’ letter issued twice a year;
■ the financial notices published in the press;
■ the notices for the financial operations recorded by the French Securities
Regulator (AMF).

The following information has been published or made public over the last 12
months (April 30, 2005 to April 30, 2006).

Publication in the BALO official bulletin:
January 23, 2006:
Periodic publications 
Consolidated turnover for financial year 2004/2005.

January 13, 2006: 
Periodic publications
Group activity report for H1 2005.

October 19, 2005:
Periodic publications
Parent company and consolidated financial statements at June 30, 2005, 
Turnover for Q3 2005.

July 22, 2005: 
Periodic publications
Consolidated sales for the Q1 and Q2 2005.

July 15, 2005: 
Various notices
Voting rights.

July 4, 2005: 
Periodic publications
Statutory Auditors’ reports.

May 25, 2005: 
General Meeting notices 
Notice of convocation.

May 13, 2005: 
Periodic publications
Annual financial statements at December 31, 2004.

Press releases:
April 25, 2006: 
Sales for Q1 2006: up 120% to € 18.3M.

March 27, 2006: 
Activity and results for 2005.

January 16, 2006: 
2005 sales: up 44.4% to € 50.25M; 
Growth of 10.4% a constant USD rates and consolidation of Pure World
over 6 months.

December 6, 2005: 
Naturex ranked 21 out of 50 European companies by Business Week 
and “Europe’s 500 entrepreneurs for growth”.

October 17, 2005: 
Sales for the third quarter of 2005: up 84.1% with a constant dollar. 
Half-year net income up 19.4%.
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July 22, 2005: 
Growth of 10.1% with a constant dollar in the first quarter of 2005.

On July 18, 2005: 
Success of Naturex’s bid on Pure World.

June 17, 2005: 
Takeover bid on Pure World Inc.

June 6, 2005: 
Naturex SA and Pure World Inc. agree to the acquisition of Pure World Inc. 
by Naturex SA at the price of US$ 4.30 per share.

Site Internet : 
www.naturex.com
Naturex’s website is kept up to date with all useful information for shareholders.
The bilingual site enables shareholders to download the official documents and
all the press releases.

10. Publications calendar
Mid-April: 
Turnover for Q1 2006.

Mid-July: 
Turnover for H1 2006.

Mid-October: 
Presentation of the half-yearly results for 2006.
Turnover for Q3 2006.
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Jacques Dikansky, Chairman of Naturex SA’s Board of Directors.

1. CERTIFICATION OF THE PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR THE
REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

“Having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, I hereby certify
that the information set out in the present Registration Document is, to the best
of my knowledge, true and that there are no omissions that could impair its
meaning.

I have obtained from the statutory auditors a letter certifying that they have
verified the information contained in the Registration Document relating to the
Group’s financial position and accounts in accordance with the professional
guidelines and standards applicable in France, and moreover, I have read the
entire document.” 

Jacques Dikansky
May 22, 2006

2. ACTIVITY REPORTS, CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS OF NATUREX AND STATUTORY AUDITORS’
REPORTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEARS 2003 AND 2004

The following information is included by reference in this Reference Document:

■ Naturex’s activity report, consolidated financial statements and statutory
auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements for financial year 2003
as presented in the Reference Document filed with the Commission des
Opérations de Bourse (France’s stock market watchdog) on June 28, 2004;

■ Naturex’s activity report, consolidated financial statements and statutory
auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements for financial year 2004
as presented in the Reference Document filed with the French Securities
Regulator (AMF) on June 30, 2005.

The information included in these two reference documents, other than the
information mentioned above, has, where applicable, been replaced and/or
updated by the information included in this Reference Document.

The two reference documents are available on the websites of Naturex and the
AMF, http://www.amf-france.org.

3. AUDITORS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS PRESENTED IN THE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

Statutory Auditors
KPMG S.A.
Le Mercure - Centre d’Affaires Cap Sud - B.P. 105 - 84006 Avignon Cedex (France)
Represented by Luc Rebuffo et Jean Gatinaud
Appointed on June 29,1998 for 6 years
Renewed on April 5, 2004 for 6 years

Co-Statutory Auditor
Jean-Marie Baudouin
Bd de la Deuxième D.B, BP 216 - 30133 Les Angles (France)
Appointed on October 4, 1996 for 6 years
Renewed on June 27, 2002 for 6 years

Substitute Statutory Auditor
Raymond Crosnier
1 rue de la Pellerine - 35300 Fougères (France)
Appointed on June 29,1998 for 6 years
Renewed on April 5, 2004 for 6 years

Co-Substitute Statutory Auditor
Gilles le Corre
Avenue des Fontenelles - 35310 Chavagne (France)
Appointed on October 4, 1996 for 6 years
Renewed on June 27, 2002 for 6 years
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Statutory Auditors’ fees
KPMG SA Jean-Marie Baudouin 

2005 2004 2005 2004
Amount % Amount % Amount % Amount %

€ € € €

Certification of 
financial statements 87,387 100% 79,732 100% 14,000 100% 12,890 100%
Additional assignments 0% 0% 0 0% 0 0%
Audit Sub-total 87,387 100% 79,732 100% 14,000 100% 12,890 100%
Corporate, tax and legal services 0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
IT and technological services 0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
Internal audit 0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
Other (details to be provided) 0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
Other Sub-totals 0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%

4. PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR THE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

Thierry Lambert, Naturex SA
Pôle technologique Agroparc
BP 1218
84911 Avignon Cedex 09 (France)
Tel.: +33 (0)4 90 23 96 89
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To make it easier to read the annual report that has been filed as a Registration Document, the following table of contents
can be used to identify the main headings required by Appendix I of European Commission’s regulation No.809/2004
dated April 29, 2004.

CHAPTERS PAGES

1. PERSONS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT
Certification of the person responsible for the Registration Document 84

2. STATUTORY AUDITORS
Statutory Auditors’ contact details and certifications 84
Statutory Auditors’ fees 85

3. SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Key financial data 42 & 63 - 66 & 73

4. RISK FACTORS
Risk factors 22-24
Market risks (liquidity, interest rate, exchange rate, equity portfolio) 24, 25
Activity-related risks 25 & 26
Insurance and risk cover 26

5. INFORMATION ON THE ISSUER
History 4

6. BUSINESS OVERVIEW
Main activities 6 -10
Main markets 6 -10

7. ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE
Organization chart, information on subsidiaries 79 & 80

8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 55, 59, 60

9. OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW 17-19

10. CAPITAL RESOURCES
Cash 44, 57, 58
Shareholders’ equity 45

11. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT, PATENTS AND LICENCES 19, 62

12. TREND INFORMATION 5

13. FORECASTS OR ESTIMATES  1, 5

14. ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BODIES  31
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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15. REMUNERATION AND BENEFITSS 31, 32

16. BOARD PRACTICES 36, 37

17. EMPLOYEES
Workforce 33, 61
Stock options 61
Employee profit-sharing 78

18. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS 73, 78

19. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS na

20. FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON CONCERNING THE ASSETS, 
AND LIABILITIES, FINANCIAL POSIITON AND PROFIT AND LOSSES
OF THE ISSUER
Historical financial information 84
Financial statements and verification of financial information 42-73
Pro-forma information 54
Dividend policy 22
Legal proceedings na

21. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Share capital 77
Memorandum and articles of association 76

22. MATERIAL CONTRACTS na

23. THIRD PARTY INFORMATION AND STATEMENTS BY 
EXPERTS AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST na

24. DOCUMENTS ON DISPLAY 82, 83

25. INFORMATION ON HOLDINGS 26
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Site d’Agroparc, Espace Pinède
BP 1218 - 84 911 Avignon Cedex 9 (France)
Phone: +33 (0)4 90 23 96 89
E-mail: naturex@naturex.com
Shareholders’ contact: Thierry Lambert
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